Collective Bargaining Agreement

Between

Tigard-Tualatin School District 23J

And

Tigard-Tualatin Education Association

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2026

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE & STATUS OF AGREEMENT	
Article 1: Preamble	4
Article 2: Status of Agreement	5
WORK SCHEDULE & WORKING CONDITIONS	
Article 3: Work Year	7
Article 4: Working Day	11
Article 5: Working Conditions	18
Article 6: Instruction	23
PROFESSIONAL GROWTH & EVALUATION	
Article 7: Professional Growth	28
Article 8: Evaluation	34
LEAVES	
Article 9: Sick Leave	39
Article 10: Paid Leaves	
Article 11: Unpaid Leaves	46
COMPENSATION	
Article 12: Pay Practices	49
Article 13: Extended Time Compensation	55
Article 14: Extended Responsibility	57
Article 15: Insurance	
Article 16: Reimbursement Expenses	64
ASSIGNMENT & STAFFING	
Article 17: Transfers and Vacancies	65
Article 18: Retiree Return to Work	70
Article 19: Reduction in Force/Layoff and Recall	
MEMBER RIGHTS	
Article 20: Member Rights and Responsibilities	76
Article 21: Nondiscrimination	80
Article 22: Complaint Procedure	81
GENERAL CONTRACT PROVISIONS	
Article 23: General Provisions	83
Article 24: District Rights	84
Article 25: Association Rights	85
Article 26: Association Dues and Fair Share	87
Article 27: Labor-Management Committee	89
Article 28: Site Councils	90
Article 29: Grievance Procedure	91

OTHER PROVISIONS & APPENDICES

Article 30: District Nurses	97
Article 31: Successor Agreement	98
Appendix A: Licensed Salary Schedules	99
Appendix B: Licensed Salary Index	101
Appendix C: Extended Responsibility Placement	102
Appendix D: Extended Responsibility Schedule	103
Appendix E: Definitions	105
Appendix F: Emergency Procedures for Nursing-Dependent Students	106
MOU: Insurance Administering of Article 15.A.3	108

Article 1: Preamble

A. Parties

This agreement is entered into between the Board of Directors on behalf of the Tigard-Tualatin School District 23J, herein referred to as "the District," "the Board," or "the employer" and the Tigard-Tualatin Education Association, herein referred to as "the Association." The Association is affiliated with the Oregon Education Association and the National Education Association.

B. Purpose

The purpose of this document is to set forth the parties' agreement on those matters pertaining to, but not limited to, salaries, hours, and conditions of employment.

Article 2: Status of Agreement

A. Recognition

The District recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining representative for all members in the bargaining unit.

B. Subcontracting

There shall be no subcontracting of bargaining unit positions during the term of this agreement. This shall not apply to education service districts (ESDs) or cooperative arrangements between public Pre-K-12 school districts.

C. Members

- 1. The term "members" shall mean members in the bargaining unit and shall include (regular and temporary) licensed positions (e.g., librarians, counselors, learning specialists, school psychologists, speech language pathologists, social workers, reading specialists, staff development specialists, department coordinators, team leaders, coordinators and district nurses) who are employed half-time or more. "Half time or more" shall mean at least one-half of the work day for a full year or full-time for one-half of the school calendar year. The District will consider combining part-time positions if doing so does not negatively impact the program needs of students or the school schedule.
- 2. The term "members" shall exclude all supervisory employees as provided by ORS 243.650, superintendent, administrators, associate administrators, directors, confidential employees, substitute teachers, tutors, less than half-time employees, classified employees (including classroom nurses), and nurses hired by outside agencies to perform one-on-one services for students who are nursing dependent.

3. Temporary Members

- a. A temporary member is a member of the bargaining unit.
- b. Definition: Temporary members shall be defined as:
 - An employee hired to fill a bargaining unit position for a member on contractual leave from the District, when the leave is in excess of ninety (90) work days.
 - ii. An employee hired to fill a bargaining unit position filled on or after the first day of the member calendar year (first report day) regardless of when the position was posted shall be a temporary position.

iii. Temporary employees may also be hired to fill a position designated as temporary or experimental. The position is temporary if it exists for one year or less. A position is experimental if the intention is to pilot a program for one year.

- 3. Long-term substitutes Long-term substitutes are not members of the bargaining unit.
 - a. Definition: An employee who does not work enough days to qualify for temporary status will be hired as a long-term substitute.
 - b. When a long-term substitute working in the same position works ninety (90) work days, the position will be reclassified as a temporary position.
 - c. If the District knows the leave will be in excess of ninety (90) work days, a temporary employee shall be hired from the beginning of the leave. When the District recognizes a long-term substitute position will be extended such that it qualifies as a temporary teaching position, the District will reclassify it as a temporary teaching position as soon as possible, but no later than ten (10) work days.

D. Signed Agreement

- 1. There shall be two (2) signed copies and two electronic copies of the final Agreement for the purpose of records. One shall be retained by the District and one by the Association.
- 2. Copies of the contract are to be distributed to members during the preschool in-service or within thirty (30) days of the signing of a new Agreement. New employees shall receive a copy with their employment notification. The cost of producing copies for all members of the bargaining unit shall be equally shared by the District and the Association.
- 3. Fifteen (15) copies of the Agreement will be provided to the Association, and an electronic copy shall be posted on the District's website.

E. Contract Review

Prior to the opening of school, representatives from the District and the Association will review the contract with the administrative staff and building representatives.

Article 3: Work Year

A. Work Year

- 1. Except as provided in Section A4, the member's work year shall be based-upon 190 days, to include five (5) paid holidays (Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Presidents' Day, and Memorial Day), up to 180 student contact days, five (5) pre-service days (refer to A2.a), four (4) work days (refer to A2.b), family partnership days (refer to A2.c), and four (4) planning days (refer to A2.d).
- 2. Pre-service, Work Days, Family Partnership Days, Planning Days shall include:
 - a. Pre-service Days

Up to four (4) pre-service days at the beginning of the school year for all levels.

During the four (4) pre-service days at the start of each school year, two (2) days are directed by members and two (2) days are directed by the district. Member directed pre-service days are protected, uninterrupted member preparation and planning time. One member and one district pre-service day can be flexed to two half days. "Flexed" means two (2) uninterrupted half days, not including a thirty (30) minute duty free lunch. Members will be required to work from their worksite during pre-service work days. A copy of the pre-service schedule for each building will be provided to all members prior to the first day of pre-service week.

b. Work Days

A minimum of four (4) work days. A work day is an eight (8) hour day which maximizes time for members to deal with room preparation, grading, member-directed collaboration, and other activities related to the primary purpose of the work day. Work days are protected uninterrupted member preparation and planning time. Four (4) work days for members whose schools are on the quarter system to coincide with the end of each grading period. Each work day shall be scheduled, by the District, as one full day without students.

- c. Family Partnership Days:
 - i. A minimum of the equivalent of two (2) days for elementary and middle schools (K-8) and one (1) day for the high school shall be provided during the school year for parent conferences. Members

are expected to meet with available parent/guardians only during scheduled conference hours on these conference days.

- ii. Each family partnership day may be scheduled by the District as one full day or two half days. "Half-days" shall mean, for this purpose, at least three and a half (3 1/2) hours without students. Time for conferences may be scheduled beyond the normal workday, but no longer than twelve (12) hours in one day. Site administrators will work with TTEA building representatives to determine the best distribution of these hours. Time for conferences shall not exceed the total number of hours worked in a normal workweek, or portion thereof if less than a five-day workweek.
- iii. Administrators shall communicate conference schedules thirty (30) days in advance of actual conference dates.

d. Planning Days

- i. There will be four (4) planning days. The four (4) planning days will occur in October, January, February and May.
- ii. Meetings, not including emergency stand up meetings, and IEP meetings, will not be required for members during the protected member preparation and planning time on the planning days. Members may choose to collaborate in member-created team meetings on these planning days.
- iii. Professional development will not be required on the member planning days. Members may choose and are encouraged to access optional professional development provided by the district on the member planning days.
 The decision to participate in a professional development resides solely with the member.
- iv. Administrators may use no more than 90 minutes of the first 2 hours of a planning day to schedule PLC or Professional development. The remaining time will be protected planning time.

3. Part-time Members

Part-time members required to participate in full-time in-service activities shall be paid at their daily per diem rate.

4. Extended Work Year

a. Secondary Counselors

Secondary Counselors may work up to ten (10) additional days beyond contracted days. The administrators and counselors will agree to a work day calendar with the 10 additional days scheduled contiguous to the work year unless the counselor requests otherwise, and will submit that calendar to Human Resources signed by the administrators and counselors.

b. ELL and Special Education Case Managers

ELL and Special Education Case Managers may choose to be on a work year that consists of up to four (4) additional days. These additional days are to facilitate placement, programming, and scheduling of students.

c. District Nurses

District Nurses shall be placed by the District on a work year of five (5) additional days. The administrator responsible for district nurses and the nurse will work out and agree to a work day calendar with the five (5) additional days scheduled contiguous to the work year unless the nurse requests otherwise, and shall submit that calendar to Human Resources signed by the administrator and nurse.

d. New Member Orientation

i. Members new to the profession will work five (5) additional days for orientation. The five (5) extra days may be scheduled before the contract year. The District may also use one of these five (5) days to schedule a series of four 2-hour sessions after the contract day. Another day may be broken up to meet individually with a new member mentor and/or TOSA throughout the year. A notice of all extended contract days/extended workdays will be provided prior to

the first orientation day. Payment for any orientation days prior to pre-service week will be at per diem rate and made in a separate check available by September 1st. Members will put in for the extra time at their per diem rate following attendance at each subsequent session.

ii. The District shall require other members new to the District to work up to two (2) additional days for orientation at a rate of pay equal to their per diem rate.

iii. The days for both members new to the profession and members new to the District shall be scheduled contiguous with the 1902 day contract year.

5. Additional/Fewer Work Days

- a. Members who agree to work beyond the work year specified in Section A shall be paid, except as provided in Article 13: Extended Time Compensation, and Article 14: Extended Responsibility, at a prorated amount of their annual basic salary.
- b. Members who work less than the work year specified in Section A shall have their salary adjusted downward using the same daily rate of pay formula as specified above.

B. Emergency School Interruptions

- 1. Member attendance shall not be required when student attendance is not required because of District-wide emergency school interruption. In the event of an early closure and students are still at school, members who volunteer to stay will be compensated at their per diem for staying to ensure all students are safely transported home. If the District requires make-up of the lost day(s) for which it has instructed them not to report, then all members shall fulfill their regular duties on those days.
- 2. The District will include a plan to make up emergency school days on the district adopted yearly calendar. Members must be given a twenty (20) day notice prior to being required to work on any of these designated days (unless this occurs within the last twenty (20) days of the work year).

C. School Calendar Development

The Superintendent or designee shall solicit input from the Association when the school calendar is being developed.

Article 4: Working Day

A. Working Hours

- 1. A member's normal working day shall be eight (8) continuous hours, including a continuous half hour duty-free lunch.
- 2. The working day for elementary school members (grade K-5) shall be a continuous period of no more than eight hours between 7:30 am and 3:50 pm. The working day for middle school members (grades 6-8) shall be a continuous period of no more than eight hours between 7:30 am and 3:50 pm. The working day for high school members (grades 9-12) shall be a continuous period of time of no more than eight hours between 7:35 am and 3:55 pm.
 - a. The District and the Association will collaborate to gather information regarding any potential start/stop times, passing times, and daily lunch schedules at all levels. Both parties will actively seek input from their respective members to ensure diverse perspectives are considered. The District and the Association will bring this input to Labor Management for discussion and consideration.
- 3. Each school shall set one work schedule within the time ranges specified above. Exceptions to the set school schedule on a flexible basis must be agreed upon by the member and administrator as long as an eight hour working day is maintained. Exceptions to the set school schedule on a regular basis must be agreed upon by the member, the District and the Association.
- 4. On Fridays and on days before holidays, the winter break and spring break, days where there are required evening activities, and other exceptions as approved by the building administrator, members may leave as soon as the last bus has departed at the elementary level, and after the last teaching class at the middle and high school level.
- 5. The District and the Association recognize that education is a profession involving certain professional obligations; among these are: meeting with individual students and/or parents, as necessary and joint planning with staff, as appropriate.
- 6. Occasionally, members may be requested to participate in activities of an educational nature beyond the normal working day.
 - a. These may include back to school nights, elementary music performances and school programs not to exceed three (3) activities in any given school year. Any additional requested attendance shall be compensated at the professional service rate.

b. These extended day requirements may only occur on scheduled contract days.

- c. Building administrators will share a calendar of events by October 1st for all pre-planned events, including start and end times, that will take place outside of the normal working day for a given year. Members shall be given at least two weeks' notice for events held before October 1st if required to attend an activity beyond the working day.
- d. Staff meetings shall be held during the working day.
- e. Time for Family Partnership Meetings shall constitute a total number of hours not to exceed those in a typical working week. Administrators shall communicate conference schedules 30 days in advance of actual conference dates.

7. Signing Out of the Building

- a. Members will sign out of the building when leaving during the work day. Members can leave during the work day on occasion when they do not have meetings, direct instructional or supervision duties. Members will use this time for unavoidable conflicts including, but not limited to, medical, legal and other appointments, travel arrangements, or care needs. This practice shall only take place if the District does not need to hire a substitute.
- b. Members may sign out the day before an end-of-grading-period work-day (except the last work day of the contract year) for a professional on-call status for the following work day. The sign out must include a destination and a telephone number where the member may be reached during the day by an administrator, or staff member. In an unusual circumstance, a member may be asked to return for an emergency building meeting. The member shall use the eight-hour day to do student grading and perform other such professional responsibilities. The member may not use this time for any other activity. The District administration reserves the right to deduct the daily wage or deny future requests if any member abuses the process of being on-call.
- c. Members may not sign out of the building and work from home on the scheduled member planning days or during Family Partnership meetings. These days are contract days to be worked in building or in district.

B. Duties:

Duties assigned during the working day to members shall not infringe upon their duty-free lunch period and/or planning and preparation time. Duty will be equitably distributed among all members in the building, taking into consideration other building responsibilities. By no later than the end of September, building representatives and building administration, with member input, will meet to go over the equitability of the duty schedule. If a member has a concern about an assigned duty, they should address the concern with the building administrator who will respond within five working days. If a member is not satisfied with the

response of the administrator, they may appeal the decision to the Director of Human Resources who will notify the TTEA president.

C. Preparation Time

- 1. Elementary members will be provided no less than one-hundred fifty (150) minutes of preparation time during student contact time in a five day week. No less than twenty-five (25) minutes of this time shall be provided on any full student day. The administrator and member may mutually agree to modify the schedule assuming an approximate average of one-half (1/2) hour total preparation per day.
- 2. Elementary members will be provided five and a quarter (5.25) hours per week of planning time during non-student contact hours for the purpose of instructional planning. Students will not be released to the classroom more than fifteen (15) minutes prior to the start of instructional time.
- 3. The master schedule at each elementary school will include a five (5) minute transition period between each specials session. Schools that are unable to accomplish this may use some flexibility to do so and must submit their schedule to the HR Director and the TTEA President for review and approval.
- 4. Elementary PE and Music Specialists will teach up to nine sessions of single homeroom classes each day.
- 5. Middle school members (grades 6-8) and members working at the Tigard-Tualatin Virtual Academy will be provided one (1) continuous block of preparation time of 40 minutes, or the equivalent of one instructional period per day, whichever is greater, during the student contact day for classroom preparation, with the exception of (1) up to four days per year for the purpose of assemblies/activities and (2) the building level State Testing Schedule. The State Testing Schedule will be determined by the building administrator in consultation with a joint committee of members selected by content area and/or grade level and administrators at each building. The agreed schedule will be forwarded to the HR department and TTEA President 30 days prior to implementation. Members may

reserve the right to limit student access to their classroom 15 minutes prior to the start of the instructional day.

- 6. High School Block periods will each be 87 minutes in length. Preparation time of 2/3 of a block period (continuous 60 minutes) will be guaranteed. The other 1/3 of the block period (27 minutes) may be administratively assigned with input from the Association. This additional 27 minute period shall be used for meetings or supervision duties only occasionally. For most of the week, this 27 minute period would be uninterrupted and free of additional duties or meetings. The District has the option to eliminate or change the High School block schedule to provide periods other than eighty-seven (87) minutes in length. If the District makes this change then preparation time for members shall be one of the new "periods" in length pursuant to the District's new High School schedule. Periods will not be less than forty-five (45) minutes in length.
- 7. All Creekside Community HS members will be guaranteed a continuous 75 minutes of prep time on Monday, Tuesday, Thursday, and Friday. All CCHS members will be guaranteed a continuous 60 minutes of prep time on Wednesdays. Prep time of ½ of a period will be guaranteed, the other ½ of the period can be used for meetings or supervision duties only occasionally. For most of the week, this period would be uninterrupted and free of additional duties or meetings. All prep time protections that have not been modified by this agreement still apply to CCHS members. Due to the nature of the services provided at the CCHS, the association and the district understands that it is necessary for the CCHS to have a work day that is a continuous period of no more than eight hours between 7:40 am and 4:00 pm.
- 8. Preparation time is within the student contact day and is to be used by members to prepare for instruction. Members without teaching duties shall have an equal amount of preparation time to prepare for their job requirements. Members without teaching duties should use this time for independent work.
- 9. The District shall strive to schedule activities so as not to regularly require members to assume responsibilities for other classrooms during their preparation period. The District will first seek volunteers to cover a class or combine classes due to a lack of substitutes. Members who are requested by an administrator or designee to teach a class during their preparation period and who thereby lose their preparation period that day shall receive pro rata salary for the loss of the preparation period. In the event of a sub shortage to cover a class:
 - a. Building administrators will explore all options available to minimize the impact on workload that is created when a member covers a class or combine classes due to a lack of substitutes.

b. If a member is able to cover a class or combine classes or assignment due to an unfilled absence and the current contract language for loss of prep is not applicable, members will receive up to 4 hours of per diem to cover the class.

10. Members with special education assignments shall not be required to supervise students during preparation time or during duty free lunch.

D. Meetings

- 1. Each school will establish a meeting calendar at the beginning of the school year. The proposed calendar will be reviewed to ensure that elementary members receive the required amount of planning time. Any member who has a concern about the meeting schedule should address that concern with the building administrator. If a resolution cannot be reached, the member may appeal to the Labor-Management Committee. Required meetings such as staff meetings and PLC meetings will not exceed 55 minutes per week, not including PBIS/MTSS meetings, emergency stand up meetings, and IEP meetings. This does not include pre-service days. Building Administration will work with Building Representatives to minimize the number of non-essential meetings and committees. No meetings will occur during the grading week and Family Partnership weeks, with the exception of IEP or emergency meetings.
- 2. The Superintendent or designee, if requested by the Association, will review with the Association a specific building's use of required meetings with regard to the number, their use, and the time spent. The purpose of this work is to make the most effective use of members' time by minimizing those meetings where alternative communication structures can be used to communicate information and announcements, and by making the most effective and productive use of meeting time, with an emphasis on instructional issues.

E. Time for Case Management

1. Members with case management shall be granted an extra preparation period (in a block of no less than thirty minutes during student contact time) of at least two hours and thirty minutes per week.

2. In addition to contractually provided planning case management work days, special education members may request up to four (4) days of release time, per year, for paperwork, conferences with parents, writing IEPs, scheduling IEP related meetings, scheduling students and setting up instructional materials for students. Such requests may be granted by the Director of Special Education who shall not unreasonably withhold approval.

- a. Unused days will be placed into a pool and will be available to members. Individual members may request an additional day due to unforeseen circumstances which meet the criteria established in Section E.2 above. Such requests may be granted by the Director of Special Education who shall not unreasonably withhold approval after considering the number of days available in the pool.
- 3. In addition to contractually provided planning days, ELL members may request up to two (2) days, or four (4) half case management work days per year, for paperwork, testing students, scheduling students, and setting up instructional materials for students. Such requests may be granted by the Title III Director who shall not unreasonably withhold approval.
 - a. Unused days will be placed into a pool and will be available to members through July 1 of each year. Individual members may request an additional day due to unforeseen circumstances which meet the criteria established in Section E. 3 above. Such requests may be granted by the Title III Director who shall not unreasonably withhold approval after considering the number of days available in the pool.
- 4. In addition to contractually provided planning days, counselors may request up to four (4) days, or eight (8) half case management work days, per year, for paperwork, conferences with parents, writing 504's, scheduling 504-related meetings, and other activities that are connected to 504's. Such requests may be granted by the Director of Student Services who shall not unreasonably withhold approval.
 - a. Unused days will be placed into a pool and will be available to members. Individual members may request an additional day due to unforeseen circumstances which meet the criteria established in Section E. 4 above. Such requests may be granted by the Director of Student Services who shall not unreasonably withhold approval after considering the number of days available in the pool.

F. Working Day for Itinerant Members

- 1. Preparation time shall not be used for travel time between work sites for members who are assigned to more than one (1) work site.
- 2. Itinerant members working .5 FTE or more shall have schedules that include no less than thirty (30) minutes for lunch, and sufficient time to travel to their assigned places of duty when traveling from one assignment location to another.
- 3. An itinerant member may request the Human Resources Director to review his/her schedule to ensure compliance with this Agreement.

G. Working day for Part Time Members

- 1. Members working less than full-time shall have a prorated amount of preparation time, based upon the member's percentage of full-time work. Part time members shall also have the same prorated amount of instructional minutes, student contact time, and preparation time.
 - Part-time members with a special education assignment shall have a prorated amount of case management time.
- 2. Attendance time at meetings and activities beyond their normal workday shall be prorated for part-time members. Part-time members may be required to attend up to two meetings that are not contiguous with their workday, when given fourteen (14) day advanced notice. Part-time members shall also be required to attend after-hours events and conferences on a prorated basis.
- 3. A part-time member and his/her supervisor may mutually agree to have the member attend meetings and activities beyond the workday (e.g. conferences) on a full time basis. Additional work time for such meetings and activities shall be compensated on a per diem basis.

Article 5: Working Conditions

A. Job Descriptions

Job descriptions shall be maintained by the District for all bargaining unit positions. New hires will be given a complete job description no later than one (1) week following their hire date. The Association shall be notified of the creation of new job descriptions and/or modifications of existing descriptions. Current members may request a copy of their job description or access from HR at any time.

B. Class Size/Caseload/Workload Review

- The District, Association, and Board recognizes reasonable class sizes/caseloads, and workloads as important factors in maintaining quality education. Therefore the District will strive to set reasonable class sizes and be considerate of workloads. The District will also be thoughtful of the needs of students, the financial condition of the District, the building facilities available and special program needs as recommended by the District's administrative staff.
- 2. The District and the Association will create a joint Class Size/Caseload Committee. The committee will be made up of equal representation from the Association and District. This committee shall be co-facilitated and be comprised equally of representatives from both parties. The committee will meet to review and recommend class sizes/caseloads for schools that qualify for assistance under Title I of the federal Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965. The committee will consider options and formulate recommendations to the Board for consideration following forecasting and before budgetary process is completed. The Class Size/Caseload Committee will strive to set reasonable class sizes/caseloads.
- 3. If additional responsibilities are assigned, the member may seek clarification from the supervisor as to priorities and responsibilities to be reduced or eliminated.
- 4. Upon the request of the association, the District will provide the Association a Class Size/Caseload report by worksite and by individual assignment.
- 5. A member who believes their class size(s), caseload(s), or workload is unreasonable or inequitable may:
 - a. Notify their building administrator in writing of the concern. The building administrator will promptly notify, in writing, the district administrator with the ability to solve the problem.

b. If a satisfactory solution is not reached, the district administrator will promptly schedule a conversation with all parties including a union representative to gather additional information regarding the concern and remedies sought. A written decision including rationale will be delivered to all parties no later than 5 working days after the meeting.

- c. If a satisfactory solution is not reached or the building administrator is non-responsive then the member may appeal to the Labor Management Committee.
- 6. School administrators will strive to balance inequities in the number of students assigned per class throughout the school year.
 - a. If inequities are created due to student mobility, administrators will address these issues through the placement of new students.
- 7. High School teachers should have no more than three (3) subject area preps in order to prevent the deterioration in effective teaching unless otherwise agreed to by the member for the life of the assignment. For example: Math, Geometry, Algebra and Fundamental Math each constitute one (1) prep, for a total of four (4) preps. Two (2) Algebra 1 classes on the other hand constitute one (1) prep. Effective teaching is diminished if a-member must perform more than three (3) subject area preps.
- 8. The high school block (4x4) schedules will not be changed without 75% of TTEA members in the affected high school voting in support of a schedule change. Any potential PreK-12 daily schedule change will be brought to Labor Management for discussion and consideration.
- 9. The District shall limit the number of subject area preps for middle school core subject area teachers (English, Math, Social Studies, and Science) to no more than three (3) without member agreement. This limit shall not apply to elective programs.
- 10. The District will work to eliminate duplicate paperwork and to streamline workload whenever possible.

C. Safe Working Conditions

- 1. The District and the Association will create a joint District Behavior Response Committee. This committee shall be co-facilitated and be comprised equally of representatives from both parties. The committee will meet quarterly or as needed during the school year to address, review, and problem solve. The District Behavior Response Committee will make recommendations regarding behavior, procedures, and rules based on district behavior trends, system-level data on workplace safety, the District's student behavior/discipline procedures, restorative practice policies, building-level PBIS/RTI/MTSS systems, and support services for students. Updates on action items resulting from the joint District Behavior Response Committee meetings shall be a standing item on the Labor-Management Committee Agenda. Members are encouraged to participate in school committees for behavior support, safety and equity.
- 2. The number of students enrolled in classes in which hazardous materials or equipment is used, e.g. science, industrial arts, etc., shall not exceed the number of students as prescribed by safety precautions that are jointly determined by the member and the building administrator.
- 3. The District shall identify procedures to be used to ensure that members who are assigned to work with or supervise students whose behaviors could present a safety problem are provided with information and training about documented known behavior problems of the students and access to advice about appropriate management strategies before the student arrives in the classroom.
- 4. Members who have concerns about workplace safety issues, not related to students, shall notify the building administrator and/or school safety committee. If the member is not satisfied that his/her concerns have been addressed, the member may appeal to the Superintendent.
- 5. Current student information, to include IEP information, behavior plans, safety plans, and 504 plan summaries (as appropriate) shall be directly provided to students' members at the beginning of each school year. Members may access more detailed information about specific students based on procedures established in each building.
- 6. The district will support and uphold members in their efforts to maintain a safe and welcoming environment. If a member has a safety concern based on-the behavior of a student which could cause bodily harm or a health hazard to the member or another individual in their classroom, the member should immediately report the concern to the building administrator, as well as the student's case manager (if applicable) and request a team meeting to look at strategies. If there is an immediate concern, the administrator shall consult with the member, case manager, and/or member of student services and shall intervene with a plan which addresses the immediate stated concern until the team meeting can take place.

7 Provided a member has sufficient reason to believe a student's behavior poses an imminent threat the member is authorized to send the student(s) to the Administrator's office. Imminent threat refers to a danger that is real, would occur within an immediate time frame, and could result in serious harm. The student(s) will not be returned to the regular schedule of classes until a conference is held among the Administrator, the student, and/or parent(s) or quardian(s) (where possible), and the member. If the imminent threat behavior persists, the student(s) will not be returned to the regular schedule of classes until the Administrator develops a plan in consultation with other staff members, which may include the member, case manager, and/or member of student services and intervenes with the plan. The member may call for a team meeting to create a written plan for addressing the student behavior to be shared with the member, the administration, case manager (if applicable), and the parent(s) and/or guardian(s). As students have a right to the least restrictive learning environment, keeping a student out of class must not violate any TTSD policies or established rules as set forth by federal law, e.g. FAPE.

- 8. The District will provide yearly training to members around behavior support strategies. The Association and the District recognize the need for members to write referrals for the purpose of data collection and to assist in student behavior management. Members will receive feedback about the action taken within a reasonable time frame, generally within (2) two contract days.
- 9. A member may request additional professional development around behavior management strategies from Student Services.
- 10. Administrators will establish procedures regarding operation of the building in their absence. This procedure will be shared with staff by September 30th.

D. District Insurance

Upon inquiry, members shall be clearly informed of any change in property and casualty insurance policies.

E. Instructional Supplies and Equipment

The District will provide paper, basic classroom supplies and District-adopted curriculum materials. The district recognizes the need to provide equitable and appropriate curriculum, instructional supplies/resources and equipment and will solicit member recommendations for such items when annual budgets are developed. If the District-adopted curriculum does not adequately meet the format and needs of the classroom the District will develop a plan to create supplemental materials, which could include extra pay for a team of members at the professional service rate or provided additional sub-days, to help to create those materials.

F. Lesson Plans for Time beyond the Member's Instructional Minutes/Responsibilities

Members shall only be required to provide lesson plans for classes/groups for which they provide direct instruction or directly supervise the instruction.

G. Handbooks

District and/or building handbooks shall comply with this Agreement and be consistent with District policy.

Article 6: Instruction

A. Academic Freedom/Controversial Issues

- The District and the Association agree that academic freedom in alignment with the
 Division 22 Standards is essential to the fulfillment of the purposes of the District.
 Members shall be protected from undue criticism or restraint which may interfere
 with their obligations to perform their prescribed teaching functions.
 - Such academic freedom shall be exercised within the appropriate course of study and for the age and maturity of the students and in alignment with board policy.
- 2. Teaching of controversial issues is an accepted procedure in appropriate subject matters and grade levels. However, this does not give a member the license to promote a particular point of view.
- 3. Members also have the obligation to use professional judgment in approaching controversial issues. They shall:
 - a. Present varying aspects or sides of issues;
 - b. Teachers will present an overall view of controversial issues and clearly identify when a position is a personal opinion.
 - c. Use professional judgment in selecting the types of materials used in studying controversial issues, provided the materials and/or discussion is relevant to the grade level and curriculum scope and sequence.

B. Electronic Recording Devices

- 1. Recording devices in the classroom, excluding any multi-purpose or common spaces shall meet the following criteria:
 - a. No new recording device shall be installed in a classroom unless initiated by the member.
 - b. Recorded live sessions can not be used to evaluate a teacher, with the exception of teacher discretion or they include evidence of violation of board policy, TSPC regulation, state and/or federal law. In such cases the teacher could be disciplined for just cause.

c. Recorded live instruction can be shared per the Electronic Communications Guidelines to students within the same class protected by student account passwords.

C. Classroom Visitors

1. Visitations of parents/guardians and patrons may be arranged with the administrator and the member with no less than 48 hours notice (or sooner if mutually agreed upon) and permitted within considerations for the requirements of the educational program, the orderly administration of the school and classroom, and safety and welfare of students. Visitors shall not be allowed to record classroom visitations without prior permission from the member.

2. Peer Observation/Learning Walks

Members must be notified of peer observations and learning walks at least 48 hours in advance. The maximum number of people typically visiting a classroom for these purposes will be limited to five (5) per visit unless agreed to otherwise by the member. These visits will not be used for evaluative purposes.

D. Instructional Flexibility

- 1. Members and teacher teams have the flexibility to adjust, modify and add supplemental materials to the curriculum to meet the needs of students, including but not limited to social, emotional and academic needs. Members will have a conversation with Building Administrators about adjustments, modifications and supplemental materials that are implemented. The district agrees to prioritize and minimize the standards taught so that members have the ability to adapt and meet student needs in the classroom.
- 2. The District recognizes that pacing guides are recommendations in meeting the prioritized grade level standards. Members have the right to adjust pacing and schedule the curriculum to meet students' needs within their classroom.

E. Student Grades

- 1. All Secondary members will use the TTSD adopted district grading platform.
- 2. Members will be professional in providing regularly updated grades.

3. No grade or evaluation given by a member shall be changed without the approval of the member, unless the student, parent(s), or legal guardian(s) file an appeal with the administrator.

- a. Appeals shall be heard by a review panel. The panel shall consist of three (3) representatives. The first representative shall be appointed by the member; the second shall be appointed by the administrator and the third representative shall be a member appointed by the parent/student. The third panel member shall be a certified teacher or counselor from the same school and shall have no family relationship to the student and/or parent. The administrator shall serve as the chairperson.
- b. The panel may change the grade, establish additional requirements or deny the appeal.
- c. The panel's decision shall be final and binding and communicated to the member by the administrator.
- d. If the member has left the District or otherwise is unavailable, the Association shall appoint the member's representative.
- 4. Members will be required to have grades for each grading period completed no earlier than two (2) contract days beyond the last day of the grading period.

F. Social Emotional Learning

In order to proactively address the social-emotional needs of students, members will host designated social-emotional time with students. At the elementary and middle level, community building and SEL activities are built into the schedule for no more than 30 minutes daily. At the high school level, community building and SEL standards will be embedded into members' classes. However, during one of the first two (2) weeks of school and/or in response to significant events (e.g. loss of life in the community, other traumatic event), these activities may be occasionally extended or adjusted as needed throughout the year to support the learning community. For all members these times are non-evaluative. Designated social-emotional time will be co-constructed between Members, TTEA representatives and the District.

G. Use of Student Data

Student data may appropriately be used by a member or teams of members to inform instruction.

H. Student Placement

- 1. Any member, who is a part of a student's IEP/504 plan team, will have input regarding the necessary modifications and accommodations including any resources, equipment and facility provisions to serve the student.
- 2. Any member of the IEP team who believes there is a need to review the student's placement or IEP services may call to reconvene the IEP team.

I. Distance Learning

- In distance learning, the member will provide teacher facilitated learning following the bell schedule. Teacher-facilitated learning is a synchronous (either on-site or off-site) or an asynchronous learning experience planned and guided by a licensed teacher.
 - a. Synchronous will mean a variety of interactive methods intended to support student learning that can include but is not limited to live group instruction, teacher-facilitated online video or audio, online chats, instant messaging, peer interaction, two-way communication, small group breakouts, or individual office hours.
 - b. Asynchronous will mean learning that occurs in elapsed time such as email or blog posts as well as posted assignments that are not a direct interaction.

J. Professional Learning Communities (PLC)

- In an effort to support meaningful collaboration, with a focus on improving student achievement, members will work collaboratively in PLCs in accordance with Article 3.
- 2. The PLC collaboration time provided for in Article 3 above will not be scheduled during the August pre-service week.
- 3. Members may schedule additional collaboration time depending on the needs of the individual school.
- 4. Administrators may schedule the collaboration time in a way that best meets the professional development needs of the school. Administrators will ensure that the hours identified for PLC collaboration are provided.

5. (All) PLC collaboration time throughout the year will focus on district strategic initiatives or school goals with a specific emphasis on student achievement. PLC teams are responsible for following established PLC protocols and are accountable to school administration for providing standards based artifacts that may include(:) teacher created artifacts, Common Formative Assessments, data reviews, lesson plans or similar items that demonstrate the work that was accomplished during the collaboration time.

6. For the purposes of this agreement, collaboration time is defined as time that teachers are working together in PLCs with a specific focus (as described in section five (5) above) and for the purpose of improving instruction in order to positively impact student outcomes. Additional examples include the development of standards based instruction and/or assessments or the development and on-going monitoring of PLC group goals. In order to achieve this purpose, meetings will not be scheduled during collaboration time.

Article 7: Professional Growth

A. Conferences and Classes

- 1. A member may request release time from school to attend conferences or workshops, to visit other schools or to work on community projects. The request must be submitted to the administrator or appropriate supervisor.
- 2. A member may request release time from the regular working day during non-teaching hours to take accredited classes which are not available at other times.
- 3. In-service, workshops, and non-credit classes must have prior approval by the District office and relate to members' continued professional improvement.
- 4. Undergraduate Credit/Community College Courses
 - a. The District may identify undergraduate courses from accredited colleges and universities as having a high priority for the District, i.e., technology, foreign language, etc. Members with prior approval of a building administrator and the Human Resources Director may use tuition reimbursement funds for undergraduate courses or community college courses continued professional improvement.
 - b. Current members (including but not limited to Music and PE teachers) may apply to the District to have targeted courses counted as District Credit for the purpose of advancing on the salary schedule. Only courses taken after being employed by the District, and after the District has authorized their use for District Credit will count as District Credit.
 - c. Process: Members desiring to take identified undergraduate or community college courses and have those courses count for District Credit must submit the request in writing and have it approved prior to taking the course.
 - Written approval guarantees the use of available tuition reimbursement funds and the use of earned credits as District Credit for the purpose of salary advancement once the member demonstrates satisfactory completion of the course (B grade or higher).
 - ii. The member must submit a grade report or a verification from the instructor that the course was completed and a B grade or higher was earned.

iii. Courses taken under the terms of this article may not be taken pass/no pass.

B. Reimbursement for Non-Credit Classes

- 1. A member may access funds with building administrator approval from a pool of \$25,000 for non-credit classes. These non-credit classes do not apply for advancement on the salary schedule.
 - a. To qualify the non-credit classes must relate to one of the following:
 - i. Major district/school curriculum emphasis for the current school year
 - ii. District/school staff development goals for the current school year
 - iii. Majority of the member's assignment for the current school year
 - iv. Member's personal/professional goals for licensure or advanced degree programs
 - v. Member's continuing professional development plan
 - vi. Other areas mutually agreed upon by the member and an administrator

C. Reimbursement for Graduate Credit

1. Graduate credit is defined as coursework from an accredited university or college. Each course must be at the 500 level or above or qualify for credit towards a graduate or advanced degree or be part of a continuing education program. Each regular full-time licensed employee shall be granted 3 quarter credit hours of tuition reimbursement each school year with a maximum accumulation of 9 quarter credit hours.

Tuition reimbursement amounts:

- a. State of Oregon public universities/colleges actual amount.
- b. Private colleges/universities: an average of tuition rates for OSU, PSU, and U
 of O. This quarter term average will be converted to semester credits, if
 applicable.

- c. Conferences for credit: out-of-state or online accredited colleges/universities, actual rate or a total up to the average of OSU, PSU, and U of O as per above if pre-approved beforehand as eligible graduate credit hours towards advancement on the salary schedule.
- d. Reimbursement claims must be presented within three (3) months of the completion of a course, unless the member has not received a record of completion.
- e. Members who are not TSPC licensed may apply tuition reimbursement funds with a maximum of five hundred dollars (\$500) per year, accumulative to fifteen hundred dollars (\$1,500) over a three year period, only toward fees/tuition for ongoing education required for continued licensure.
- 2. All reimbursement benefits available to full-time staff shall be made available to regular part-time personnel as follows:
 - a. Members working 3/4 or more of a working day shall receive full benefits.
 - b. Members working 1/2 time or more but less than 3/4 of a working day shall receive half benefits.
 - c. Members working less than 1/2 of a working day shall not be entitled to benefits.
- 3. College credits will be finally acknowledged when the official transcript and/or grade slip with a grade of B or better, is filed with the Human Resource Department.
- 4. A member terminating his/her employment will not be reimbursed for courses taken after the close of spring quarter of that contractual year.
- 5. Credits submitted for reimbursement will be for classes directly related to the member's major assignment, a curriculum goal of the school or the District, or to address a training goal established jointly by the member and his/her supervisor.
- 6. Members shall receive reimbursement within four (4) weeks after providing evidence of successful completion of the course work to the District Office.
- 7. The District shall continue the use of vouchers for prepayment of tuition at Portland State University.

- 8. To provide Members with additional graduate credit reimbursement, Members may donate three (3) quarter credit hours into a pool per year.
 - a. Members may apply for the additional 3 graduate credit reimbursement if they have exhausted their annual credit allotment.
 - b. Disbursement will be considered on a first come, first serve basis. Members must apply no later than June 15 of each year to be eligible for the additional 3 graduate credit reimbursement.
- D. The objective of the Professional Educator Fund (PEF) is to provide members money to individually allocate towards professional development, instructional supplies or school-related expenses, or personal business leave.
 - An allocation equal to the cost of four (4) substitute days (plus FICA) shall be made available to each full-time licensed staff member for the purposes listed below. Less than full time members will receive a prorated amount of the Professional Educator Fund according to their assigned FTE.
 - a. With written approval from their supervisor and a written plan that outlines why additional funds are being requested and their intended use, members may receive an additional PEF distribution of up to \$400 once their original PEF is exhausted. This money may only be used to attend a national conference sponsored by a recognized educational organization (including travel costs, lodging, meals, and substitute costs if a substitute is required) or to purchase additional instructional technology. Requests for this additional money shall be limited to a total of \$20,000 annually.
 - 2. Permissible uses of the Professional Educator Fund include:
 - a. Fees for any local, state or national professional training or workshops, and purchase of related materials;
 - b. Tuition reimbursement after exhaustion of availability under Section C1;
 - c. Travel costs, lodging, meals, and substitute costs if a substitute is required associated with costs for Section D.2.a.
 - d. Professional membership not necessary for performance of job, but which enhances professional development;
 - e. Instructional supplies and other school-related expenses of the staff member's choosing after review by their supervisor;

3. The member may use a portion of the Professional Educator Fund for substitute costs consistent with Sections D.2.a or D.2.c. In such case the actual amount charged will be the actual cost of the substitute including FICA.

- 4. Criteria for the use of the Professional Educator Fund will be developed by the Labor-Management Committee and approved by the Board. The Professional Educator Fund will be managed by the District Central Office who will review all applications against the established criteria and recommend approval or denial of requests.
- 5. Members are responsible to turn in receipts for expenses charged to this account.
- 6. If the District requires that a member participate in a professional growth activity.
 - a. The District will pay all expenses and this amount shall not be deducted from the Professional Educator Fund. If this requested participation occurs outside the member's normal work hours and/or work year, the member shall be paid at his/her normal rate of pay.
- 7. The amount will be prorated based on assignment FTE.
- 8. The unused portion of funds may accumulate year to year, but can never exceed a total of seven (7) times the state daily substitute rate plus FICA.

E. Timing of Reimbursement Requests

Under this article, the District shall reimburse members for requests submitted to the Business Office no later than 60 days after incurring the expense. Requests submitted beyond 60 days will not be reimbursed.

F. National Board Certification

- 1. The District shall reimburse members for the National Board Certification or equivalent fee up to a maximum of \$2,500 for an initial or renewal certificate.
- 2. The District shall provide a one-time stipend equal to \$1,000 to members who attain National Board Certification or equivalent. The District shall provide a one-time stipend equal to \$1,000 to members who successfully renew National Board Certification.

- 3. In addition to the reimbursement in Section E.1, the District shall provide up to two (2) days paid professional leave for up to two (2) years for candidates for their initial or renewed National Board Certification to prepare their portfolios.
- 4. The District shall provide the following resources each year during a two (2) year period for members seeking to gain or renew National Board Certification for Teachers:
 - a. Videotape production equipment and staff assistance;
 - b. Consultation with District content consultants and other District professional staff.

Article 8: Evaluation

A. Purpose

The purpose of evaluation is to aid the member in making continual professional growth and to determine the member's performance of their job responsibilities (ORS 342.850(1)).

B. Evaluation System Development

- 1. The District shall develop an evaluation process in consultation with district administrators and members appointed by the Association (ORS 342.850(1)). The Superintendent or its designee shall serve on the committee which consists of equal numbers of members and administrators. If the committee cannot agree on a chairperson, the Superintendent or its designee shall appoint a chairperson.
- 2. Administrators must use the official evaluation documents including all forms found in the evaluation software to evaluate members.
- 3. The District shall extend the same confidentiality protections to electronic evaluation files that it does to paper files.

C. Evaluation Procedures

- The evaluation procedures shall be made available to all members prior to evaluation. If an evaluation handbook is not adopted by the start of a school year, the handbook evaluation procedure will not be implemented for thirty (30) calendar days after distribution to members. The procedures shall include;
 - a. Job descriptions and performance standards which include but are not limited to, items in the job description (ORS 342.850(2)(b)(A));
 - b. A pre-evaluation meeting, at the beginning of the evaluation process, will be held with both Probationary and Contract Year 2 members, which includes, but is not limited to, the establishment of mutually agreed on goals for the member, based on the member's preference, job description and performance standards (ORS 342.850(2)(B));

c. A Midpoint conference held with probationary and Contract Year 2 members to review written progress on performance standards. A midpoint conference for Contract Year 1 members may also be called by either the member or the administrator to review written progress on performance standards.

- d. Written criteria for performance (ORS 342.850(2)(b)(C)).; and
- e. A post-conference to discuss the written summative evaluation results with the Probationary and Contract Year 2 members (ORS 342.850(2)(D)).
- f. If needed, a written program of assistance for improvement is established, to remedy any deficiency specified in ORS 342.865.
- 2. Annually, members will complete a self-reflection of their practice using the evaluation performance rubric.
- 3. Mini classroom observations will be between 15-20 minutes in length unless mutually agreed upon by the administrator and the member. Probationary members will have at minimum six (6) mini observations. Contract members will have at minimum four (4) mini observations. Administrators shall share observation notes for each mini observation before an additional mini observation occurs; feedback will be delivered to the member within five (5) work days of each observation.

There will be at least five (5) working days in between mini observations. The five (5) working day window may be waived with mutual agreement so long as feedback from the prior mini observation has been shared with the member.

- a. Classroom observations shall not be conducted in areas of misassignment.
- b. Mini observations for instructional staff will be conducted within the assigned classroom during instruction.
- c. Administrators will give members an opportunity to add evidence before the summative evaluation is finalized.

4. A copy of summative evaluations shall be provided to the member. Summative evaluations should be based on performance standards. No part of the evaluation shall be based upon complaints that are not processed through the complaint procedure in Article 23: Complaint Procedure.

- 5. Evaluators shall be supervising administrators.
- Evaluation Criteria:
 - a. (In accordance with ORS 342.850(2)(C),) the District will adopt Objective criteria for evaluating members.
- 7. A member may attach a rebuttal to any observation or evaluation report.

D. Evaluation Cycle

- 1. Probationary members: Summative evaluations shall be made annually for all probationary members. Summative evaluations will be based on a minimum of six (6) mini observations and other collaborative collection of evidence, if determined by the administrator or the member as needed, related to performance standards and licensed job description. Members will also receive a performance evaluation review at the midpoint of their evaluation cycle. Evaluation cycle for probationary members will be completed by March 1st.
- 2. Contract members: Summative evaluations shall be made every other year for contract members who are in contract year 2 of the evaluation cycle. Summative evaluations will be based on mini observations and other collaborative collection of evidence, if determined by the administrator or the member as needed, related to performance standards and licensed job description. Evaluation cycle for contract members will be completed by June 1st.
- 3. If the number of mini observations exceeds four (4) per year for contract members or six (6) per year for probationary members the administrator shall notify the member of the reasons for the increase in observations and shall conference with the member and discuss the reason(s). If the member then requests a written statement of the reason(s), the administrator will provide the member with that written statement describing the administrator's reasons, concerns, and recommendations for improvement, if applicable. This requirement may be met by the administrator's written observation notes.

4. A copy of the summative evaluation shall be given to the member within ten (10) working days of its completion. The summative evaluation will not be given to the member following the last working day in June unless reasons beyond the control of the member or the administrator prohibit meeting such a deadline. In such cases, the evaluation will be given to the member as soon as can be arranged.

- 5. If the member's summative evaluation is not completed by the last working day in June, a letter will be placed in the member's personnel file which simply states that the member's performance met or exceeded District standards for that year unless the administrator has notified the member in writing of concerns by May 1, which would extend the evaluation cycle into the next school year.
- 6. Non-instructional Staff: Non-instructional licensed staff will engage in the evaluation process and cycle. However, for the 2024-25 school year the summative evaluation tool remains the same as the 2022-23 school year. The Evaluation Committee will review the evaluation tools for Instructional Support, Counselor/Psychs, and Social Workers during the 2024-25 school year.
- E. Plan of Assistance (Also called Programs of Assistance for Improvement)
 - 1. A Plan of Assistance may be a part of the evaluation process. A Plan of Assistance will be developed by the administrator with the aid of the member, if the member's deficiencies are deemed by the District to be serious enough to warrant such help.
 - 2. Definition: A "Program of Assistance for Improvement" means a written plan for a contract member that with reasonable specificity:
 - a. Helps members adapt and improve to meet changing demands of the Oregon Educational Act for the 21st Century if applicable;
 - b. Identifies specific deficiencies in the contract member's conduct or performance;
 - c. Sets forth corrective steps the contract member may pursue to overcome or correct the deficiencies;
 - d. Sets forth the specific assistance to be provided by the District;

e. Establishes the assessment techniques by which the District will measure and determine whether the contract member has sufficiently corrected the deficiencies to meet District Standards;

- f. Sets a timeline for improvement;
- g. Identifies what will occur if the program of assistance is or is not met.
- 3. The member will have the right to representation during meetings concerning the development of a Plan of Assistance and during all subsequent meetings regarding the plan. The member and representative, if any, will have an opportunity for input prior to finalization of the plan. The member may submit a rebuttal statement indicating disagreement with any aspect of the plan and such statement shall be added to the member's Plan of Assistance file.
- 4. No more than five (5) standard deficiencies shall be listed in any one(1) Plan of Assistance.
- 5. Timelines will vary in length, dependent upon the type and kind of deficiency diagnosed. Normally, no Plan of Assistance will extend more than twelve (12) months without revision. Every Plan of Assistance shall involve a review conference at least every four (4) months excluding summer.
- 6. If the member fails to correct deficiencies identified under the Plan of Assistance, the District may;
 - a. Redefine and/or extend the Plan of Assistance:
 - b. Change the member's evaluation status;
 - c. Recommend termination or non-extension of employment; or:
 - d. Withhold salary increments for that year. Salary increments may be withheld for more than one (1) year if the member is again placed on a Plan of Assistance. If the member satisfactorily corrects the deficiencies noted in the Plan of Assistance, the District may reinstate the withheld increments.

Article 9: Sick Leave

A. Definition

"Sick Leave" means the illness or injury of an immediate family member, as defined by FMLA/OFLA, or absence from duty because of a member's illness or injury which prevents the member from working during the normal contract year.

B. Accumulation

- 1. Accumulation of Sick Leave shall be pursuant to ORS 332.507. The District shall allow ten (10) days sick leave at full pay for each school year or one (1) day per month employed, whichever is greater.
- 2. Sick Leave not taken shall accumulate for an unlimited number of days. The District shall permit a member to take up to seventy-five (75) days Sick Leave accumulated in other Oregon districts. The accumulations shall not exceed that carried by the most recent employing district. However, the transfer of Sick Leave from another Oregon district shall not be effective until the member has completed thirty (30) workings days in this District.
- 3. For purposes of determining retirement benefits, the District shall permit a member to transfer an unlimited number of days of unused accumulated Sick Leave from another Oregon district employer.

C. Sick Leave Bank

- 1. Purpose: To provide members with additional Sick Leave coverage when their own extended illness (more than 5 days) or complications from an extended illness exhausts their accumulated Sick Leave.
- 2. Membership: Membership in the Sick Leave Bank shall be optional. Members who choose to join the Bank must contribute one half (1/2) day earned personal Sick Leave to the Bank in order to become members. The one half (1/2) day contributed to the Bank shall not be retrievable for use as a half day of Sick Leave.
- 3. Administration: The Association, with assistance from the District's Payroll Department shall be responsible for recording membership, setting the enrollment dates, maintaining all Sick Leave Bank records, and developing necessary forms. There shall be an open enrollment period for all members to join the Sick Leave Bank at least once a year. Once a member joins the Sick Leave Bank they cannot leave and then re-enroll. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall be responsible for the administration of other aspects of the Bank. The Committee shall be

composed of three (3) members appointed by the Association. The Committee shall have the following authority: a) Review applications from the members; b) make grants from the Bank, c) determine if the annual membership contribution should be made and d) other duties that may be required to administer the Bank.

- 4. Criteria for grants from the Sick Leave Bank: Members of the Bank can apply for grants under the following conditions:
 - a. The member must have used all accumulated Sick Leave.
 - b. The member must have used all Floating Holiday Leave.
 - c. The member must not be eligible for lost time compensation under Workers' Compensation.
 - d. The member must have presented the Committee with a physician's statement of illness and other documentation as required by the Committee.
- 5. Grants from the Bank: The Committee may grant up to forty-five (45) days from the Bank to any one member. The Committee shall notify applicants of Committee action within five (5) working days after receipt of the application. The actions of the Committee shall not be grievable or subject to appeal.
- 6. Bank reserve: The Sick Leave Bank reserve shall not total more than one hundred five percent (105%) of the total number eligible members as certified by the District's Payroll Department. If the Sick Leave Bank Committee determines the annual membership contribution would exceed the reserve maximum in any year, the Committee may not require enrolled Sick Leave Bank Members to contribute a half day to the bank.
- 7. Reports: The District shall upon request provide the Association copies of records accounting for the accumulation and use of Sick Leave in the Bank.

D. Workers' Compensation

Sick Leave may be used to make up the difference between regular salary and the benefits received under the Oregon Workers' Compensation law. A member's Sick Leave will be charged for only the pro rata portion paid by the District.

E. Notification of Accumulated Sick Leave

On the first regular school day of each year, and in each monthly paycheck, each member will be given a written accounting of his/her use and accumulation of Sick Leave.

F. Medical Provider Certification

A Medical Provider certification may be required provided that it complies with the law.

G. Maternity

Members affected by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions or occurrences shall be treated the same for all employment related purposes, including receipt of benefits under the benefits programs, as other persons not so affected, but similar in their ability or inability to work by reason of physical condition and nothing in this section shall be interpreted to permit otherwise.

H. Parental Leave

The District shall grant members the use of their accrued Personal Leave and Sick Leave for up to twelve (12) weeks during the year following the birth of a child or adoption or foster placement of a child under 18, or a child 18 or older if incapable of self care because of a mental or physical disability (includes leave to complete the legal process required for foster placement or adoption). Parental leave shall be administered in accordance with OFLA/FMLA guidelines.

I. Infectious Disease Leave

At the time that school has declared to have an outbreak of a life-threatening communicable disease (as defined by CDC community level), the District and the Association will meet to establish the protocol for accessing up to 5 days good cause leave for members who have contracted the disease.

Article 10: Paid Leaves

Temporary non-accumulative leaves of absences with full pay each school year are as follows:

A. Floating Holiday

Each member will have three (3) floating holidays each year. Floating Holidays cannot be used to extend a holiday (except for religious leave). If the circumstances are beyond the member's control to schedule the event, the member may appeal to the Labor-Management Committee for review. The floating holiday may be used to extend a holiday for a significant family event such as, but not limited to, weddings and graduations. In order to use the floating holiday to extend a holiday, the member must provide a written statement to the Director of Human Resources or HR designee explaining how the request meets the criteria. The floating holiday may not be used to extend a holiday for reasons without a significant family event such as, but not limited to, extending family vacations and obtaining reduced price for travel expenses. A substitute must be previously arranged only to cover the floating holiday when used to extend a holiday.

Members who do not use the floating holidays will be paid 100% of the state daily substitute rate on June 30, or the date of the last payroll of the year, whichever is earlier, for two (2) of the unused floating holidays. Less than full time members will receive a prorated amount according to their assigned FTE.

B. Non-Medical Emergency Leave

One (1) day of non-accumulative paid leave per school year is available for unforeseen, unpredictable circumstances (a personal emergency) which necessitate immediate action by the member and which cannot be accomplished outside of work hours, including but not limited to impacts caused by inclement weather (e.g. burst pipes, dwelling damage, etc.), and/or natural disasters. Requests for such leaves shall be submitted through the Human Resources Department with as much advance notice as possible under the circumstances and must state the reason for the leave. Non-medical emergency leave will not be granted for medical or daycare related requests. If at all possible, a member on leave under this paragraph shall leave complete lesson plans for the substitute teacher. If the District fails to provide written approval to the member within a reasonable time period, the request is approved.

C. Religious Leave: Members may use their floating holiday for religious observances. The District and the member may mutually agree to arrange for members to work alternate days or work schedules to accommodate their religious observances. Requests for such alternative work schedules shall be made to Human Resources.

D. Family and Medical Leave

- 1. Family and medical leave will comply with State and Federal leave laws.
- 2. Members may use their accumulated, qualifying sick leave for absence due to FMLA/OFLA eligible serious health conditions of family members that requires the member's care under any FMLA/OFLA constraints. Immediate family shall be defined by FMLA/OFLA.
- 3. The District shall grant leave benefits to domestic partners (opposite sex or same-sex domestic partners) under the same FMLA/OFLA constraints as spousal benefits.
- 4. The District shall grant leave benefits if the member is the victim or the parent or legal guardian of a minor who is the victim of domestic violence, harassment, sexual assault or stalking.

E. Bereavement

- 1. Three (3) days bereavement leave shall be granted in case of death and funeral of an immediate family member. An additional two (2) days may be granted by the Superintendent or designee if out-of-state travel or extenuating circumstances exist. A member may take additional leave in accordance with OFLA leave laws, which will use the member's accrued sick leave. Bereavement leave is not accumulative.
- 2. For the purposes of this section immediate family is defined as follows:
 - a. Spouse, domestic partner (opposite sex or same-sex domestic partner);
 - b. Children, grandchildren or grandparents of member, spouse or partner;
 - c. Mother, father, or other person in loco parentis to the member, spouse or partner;
 - d. Brother or sister to the member or spouse/partner;
 - e. Step relatives and in-laws of the member or spouse/partner:
 - f. Other persons who have lived in the member's household as family members.
- 3. Two (2) days of bereavement leave shall be granted to attend the funeral of a close friend.

4. The bereavement leave provided in this section of Article 10 shall run concurrently with any bereavement leave mandated by state law. Bereavement Leave is only available within 60 days of the occurrence per state leave laws.

F. Legal

If a member is subpoenaed from duty to appear in court or administrative proceedings as a party or witness or is called for jury duty (in a case in court), the District shall approve such absence without loss of pay if the member and/or Association has not initiated legal action against the District. Traffic court appearances will be allowed on a one-half (1/2) day basis. Unless otherwise mutually agreed, the jury or witness fees due the member for such services, with the exception of mileage and expense fees, shall be turned in to the Business Office. A copy of the subpoena or order shall be filed with the office. The member shall meet his/her job responsibilities as much as possible while serving such duty, and it shall be the member's responsibility to advise his/her supervisor of his/her daily schedule.

G. Military Leave

The District agrees to release time of up to fifteen (15) days for persons called into temporary active duty of any unit of the United States reserves or the State National Guard. The member shall be paid his/her regular pay in addition to any pay which he/she receives from the State or Federal government in accordance with ORS 408.290.

H. Association Leave

- 1. Up to a total of twenty-five (25) days shall be provided for members of the Association to attend conferences or conventions of its state and national affiliated organizations. Requests for leave shall be made five (5) working days in advance, when possible. The Association President or designee must approve all Association Leave. The Association shall reimburse the District for the member's salary.
- 2. The District shall provide the Association with up to sixty (60) days release time for use by the Association. The Association President or designee must approve all Association Leave. The Association shall reimburse the District for salary costs of the substitute. Requests for the leave shall be made five (5) working days in advance, when possible. Approval shall be based on the on-site need of the member as determined by the administrator in consultation with the member.
- 3. The District will provide leave records which will be verified by the Association President quarterly prior to billing.

4. The Association President shall be released up to and including one hundred percent (100%) of the time from District assigned duties and responsibilities. Such leave arrangements must be cooperatively developed with the President, their supervisor and the Human Resource Department. The Association shall reimburse the District for the total (if 100%) or pro rata cost of salary and PERS, FICA, and insurance benefits of the Association President.

J. Good Cause

Other leaves of absence with pay may be granted for good reason as determined by the District.

K. Paid Leave Oregon (PLO)

A member may elect to use accrued sick or other leave in addition to any benefits received under PLO.

A member is entitled to determine the order in which accrued leave is to be used when more than one type of accrued leave is available.

Article 11: Unpaid Leaves

A. General Provisions for Unpaid Leaves

- 1. Members who desire unpaid leaves of absence shall submit written requests to the Human Resource Department. The requests shall be in writing specifying the reason for the leave and the beginning and ending dates of the leave. Such leaves, including Section A2, shall be without pay or benefits except as provided herein. Members will exhaust their paid leave before requesting unpaid leaves.
- 2. Extension, renewal, or modification of unpaid leave may be granted upon the member's written request to the Human Resource Department.
- 3. Members on leave shall notify the Human Resource office by March 1 prior to the beginning of the next school year, unless another date is specified by the Human Resource office, of their intent to return from leave.
- 4. All benefits to which a member was entitled at the time the leave of absence commenced, including seniority, unused accumulated sick leave and credits toward sabbatical eligibility, shall be restored upon return from leave as fully as if the leave had never been taken and the member shall be assigned to the same or a comparable position.
- 5. Upon return from Professional Study Leave, Political Leave, Association Leave, or International and Federal Leaves, members shall be placed at the same position on the salary schedule as they would have been had they worked in the District during such period.
- 6. Members on leave of absence, other than FMLA/OFLA, will not continue group insurance coverage and would need to apply for COBRA benefits through their insurance carrier at their own expense if they would like insurance coverage during the leave. In the event that a member is injured on the job and is entitled to Workers' Compensation, the District will continue to pay the insurance premiums for a maximum of six (6) months.

B. Short-Term Unpaid Leaves

1. A leave of less than thirty (30) days may be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent or designee.

2. Unpaid Leave: Members who have additional unpaid leave needs may take up to five (5) days of unpaid leave with Director of Human Resources or designee approval. The member may bring their case to the Labor Management Committee for consideration if they believe the request has been unreasonably denied. Criteria for the use of unpaid leave will be:

- a. Member must secure a substitute before unpaid leave will be approved.
- b. Member may request unpaid leave for legal, business, religious, household, or family matters.
- c. Unpaid leave may only be requested to extend a holiday for a significant family event such as, but not limited to, weddings and graduations. LWOP may not be used to extend a holiday for reasons without a significant family event such as, but not limited to, extending family vacation and obtaining reduced price for travel expenses.
- d. If a request is made to use unpaid leave to extend a holiday a written request must be sent to HR explaining how the request meets this criteria.
- e. When possible, requests should be made two (2) weeks in advance unless it's an emergency. If the District fails to provide written approval to the member within two (2) weeks of the request, the request is approved (this only applies to requests made two (2) or more weeks in advance).
- f. Members who have additional unpaid leave needs beyond the 5 days listed in section B.2. above may request an additional five (5) days, from the Director of Human Resources or designee. A member may only use this additional leave once in a two year period.

While on such unpaid leave, benefits to which the member is entitled under the terms of this Agreement, including District paid insurance coverage, shall continue.

C. Long-Term Unpaid Leave

- 1. Professional Study Leave: A leave of absence of up to one (1) year may be granted to members, upon application, for the purpose of career development which is reasonably related to their professional responsibilities.
- Political Leave: A leave of absence not to exceed two (2) years may be granted to member upon application for the purpose of campaigning for, or serving a public office.

3. Oregon Education Association and National Education Association Leave: A leave of absence of either one (1) or two (2) years (as determined by the term of office) shall be granted to any member, upon application, for the purpose of serving as an officer of the Oregon Education Association or the National Education Association if a qualified replacement is available. Additional time may be granted on mutually agreeable terms.

- 4. International and Federal Leaves: A leave of absence may be granted to members, upon application, for the purpose of participating in exchange teaching programs in other states, territories or countries; foreign or military teaching programs; the Peace Corps, Teachers Corps, or Job Corps as full-time participants in such programs; or cultural, travel, or work programs related to the professional responsibilities; provided such members state an intention to the District.
- 5. Military Leave: After paid military leave is exhausted in accordance with Article 10: Paid Leaves, Section H: Military Leave, unpaid military leave shall be granted any member in accordance with state and federal law.
- 6. Family Medical Leave: Federal and State Family Medical Leave and Parental Leave will be administered according to statute. Upon request, a member who has exhausted any available paid leave shall be granted unpaid leave to the extent of any Federal or State leave act entitlements. During this period of leave, health insurance premiums shall be paid by the District to the same extent as prior to the leave, where required by FMLA/OFLA.
- 7. Personal Health and Family Hardship Leave: Members may be granted leaves not in excess of one (1) year in length for rest, restoration of health or the alleviation of hardship involving themselves or their immediate families. Personal Health and Family Hardship Leave will not be granted to seek other employment as a teacher. If it is found that a member has taken full-time employment during the time on Personal Health and Family Hardship Leave, this leave and any other will be terminated.

Article 12: Pay Practices

A. Salary Schedules and Index

- 1. a. As of September 1, 2024, a 4.0% increase over the 2023-24 schedule.
 - b. As of September 1, 2025, a 4.0% increase over the 2024-25 schedule.
 - c. All increases shall apply to Article 14: Extended Responsibility.
- 2. The salary schedule(s) and index for members are attached to this Agreement as Appendix A and B and by this reference incorporated herein. This salary schedule(s) and index shall be the official salary schedule(s) and index for all members in the bargaining unit and shall not be deviated from, except through mutual written consent of the District and the Association.
- 3. Members, who work less than full-time, will be paid at a pro rata portion of the full time salary.
- 4. Members, who are granted extended contract work beyond the normal work year, shall be paid at their normal per diem rate for each additional day (or portion thereof), except as provided in Article 13: Extended Time Compensation.

B. Salary Placement

The column (educational attainment) and step (experience) for new members will be determined given the following criteria:

- 1. Prior experience in another district will be accepted toward placement on the salary schedule. One hundred thirty-five (135) days of continuous teaching in the same position will count as one (1) year of teaching experience. The teaching position must be no less than one-half (1/2) time of a full-time teaching equivalent.
- 2. All experience in Tigard-Tualatin School District will be accepted for advancement on the salary schedule provided it meets the requirements of Section B1.
- 3. Column placement will recognize all graduate coursework that comes from an accredited institution and that qualifies for credit toward a graduate degree, or advanced degree recorded in the personnel files. Graduate credit does not require enrollment in a graduate program or intent to earn a graduate degree.

C. Column Advancement

Licensed members may submit an official transcript showing completion of graduate course work, with a grade of B or better, that either: comes from an Oregon Public University or College (such as PSU, OSU, U or O) and is at a 500 level or above, or comes from an Oregon Private University or College (such as Lewis and Clark) that is equivalent to an Oregon Public University or College and is considered a graduate level class, or qualifies for credit towards a graduate or advanced degree. Any course work from out of state Colleges/Universities would require pre-approval from Human Resources before being accepted for column advancement.

- 2. Members shall fill out an application for submission to the Human Resources Department for classes from "for profit" schools, universities, colleges, businesses such as Heritage Institute (credit through Antioch), University of the Pacific, Advancement Courses and their equivalent. Such classes must be pre-approved by the Director of Human Resources for use for column advancement. If approved, members may submit an official transcript showing completion of the graduate coursework, with a grade of B or better for the class.
- 3. Music and PE teachers may refer to Article 7.A.4. Undergraduate and Community College Courses, and may use approved undergraduate and community college course credits to make up one half of the required amount of credits for movement on the salary scale.
- 4. Advancement: A member shall be eligible for column movement when they submit a qualified transcript to the District office. Column advancement shall be processed in the months of October, February, and May. In order to gain column movement in an advancement month, the member must provide a transcript(s) to the District before October 5th, February 5th, or May 5th. If the indicated date falls on a weekend, the transcript must be submitted by the Monday following the indicated date.
- 5. Retroactivity: Transcripts turned in on or before October 5th will qualify for retroactive pay to the beginning of the work year. Transcripts turned in on or before February 5th will qualify for retroactive pay to January 1. Transcripts turned in on or before May 5th will qualify for pay retroactive to April 1. Pay for retroactivity will be included in the first check after advancement.

- 6. In instances where the university is not able to provide an official transcript, the member may file a letter signed by an authorized official of the university to verify completion of the course work. The official transcript will be filed with the District as soon as available.
- 7. The District may identify undergraduate courses in an approved undergraduate program as having a high priority for the District, i.e., technology, foreign language, etc. Current members may apply to the District to have targeted courses counted as District Credit for the purpose of advancing on the salary schedule. Only courses taken after being employed by the District, and after the District has authorized their use for District Credit will count as District Credit.

Process: Members desiring to take identified undergraduate courses and have those courses count for District Credit must submit the request in writing and have it approved prior to taking the course.

- a. Written approval guarantees the use of available tuition reimbursement funds and the use of earned credits as District Credit for the purposes of salary advancement once the member demonstrates satisfactory completion of the course (B grade or higher).
- b. The member must submit a grade report or a verification from the instructor that the course has been completed and a B grade or higher was earned.
- c. Courses taken under the terms of this article may not be taken pass/no pass.

D. Deductions

The District agrees to deduct from the salaries of the members as requested by the member within the mechanical limits of the District's Accounting Department:

- Premiums for approved insurance programs
- Payment to approved financial institutions
- 3. Contributions to United Way, Tigard-Tualatin Education Foundation, or OEA Foundation
- 4. Tax shelter compensation matters

5. The District will automatically set up a 125 contribution plan for members who must contribute to their health care premium costs.

E. Authorization

Written authorizations shall continue in effect from year to year unless revoked in writing. A new authorization form must be submitted for any changes in deductions which the member desires to have made. These deductions shall constitute a service for the member and as such are not subject to claims, suits, orders or judgments brought against the district. Any errors as a result of the District's bookkeeping shall be corrected by the District upon notice from the affected member.

F. Notification of Error or Omission

Any member whose paycheck is less than normal due to an error or omission by the District shall receive an advance in the amount of the proper adjustment within two (2) working days of a written request by the member.

G. Misplacement on Salary Schedule

- 1. Errors or omissions made by District personnel which result in misplacement on the salary schedule to the disadvantage of a member shall be made retroactive for up to three (3) years.
- 2. Errors or omissions made by a member which result in misplacement on the salary schedule to the disadvantage of the member shall be retroactive to the beginning of the school year in which the error or omission is discovered and reported to the Human Resource Department.
- 3. Errors or omissions made by District personnel which result in misplacement on the salary schedule to the disadvantage of the District shall be retroactive to the beginning of the school year and shall be settled by negotiations with the member so as not to cause undue hardship on the member.
- 4. Errors or omissions made by a member which result in misplacement on the salary schedule to the disadvantage of the District shall be retroactive for up to two (2) years. The pay back schedule shall be settled by negotiations with the member so as not to cause undue hardship on the member.

H. Step Increment Eligibility

- 1. Members who work in a bargaining unit position for one hundred thirty-five (135) days in a school year shall be advanced one step on the appropriate salary column the following year until the stated maximum has been reached except as provided elsewhere in the Agreement.
 - a. Those who are employed full-time for one-half (1/2) year or more.
 - b. Those who are employed half-time or more, but less than full-time, provided such employment is for at least one hundred thirty-five (135) days during the regular work year.
- 2. Where a member works during a given school year on a schedule involving some full-time employment and some half-time or more employment, and where such service during the school year is interrupted by an approved leave of absence, eligibility for a step increment the following school year shall be met where the days worked with the District in that school year total the equivalent of ninety five (95) full days or more.

I. Salary Checks

- 1. Salary checks shall be paid on the 25th of each month or the last working day prior to the 25th. Checks for the summer will be available on the last working day after all requirements have been fulfilled.
- 2. Members electing to have their checks sent monthly during the summer break may initiate the request at the Payroll Department prior to June 1. The checks will be mailed June 25, July 25, and August 25.
- 3. Members have the right to elect to be paid separate checks paid in a lump sum for the work, such as Extended Responsibility. If elected, lump sum payment will be made on or after completion of the assignment in December, March, or May.

J. Retirement Contributions

1. With respect to all professional compensation earned for services, the District shall cease withholding from the member's monthly salaries the six percent (6%) employee contribution required by PERS (ORS 238)/OPSRP (ORS 238a), and shall "pick up," the six percent (6%) employee contribution required by PERS (ORS 238)/OPSRP (ORS 238a).

2. The full amount of required member contributions "picked up" and paid pursuant to this section shall be considered as "salary" with respect to PERS for the purpose of computing a member's "final average salary" within the meaning of ORS 238.005(8), but shall not be considered "salary" for the purpose of determining the amount of employee "final average salary" and shall also be considered as "salary" for the purpose of determining the amount of employee contribution required to be contributed pursuant to state law.

- 3. In the event that during the life of this Agreement it becomes impossible for reasons of law, regulation, or decisions of the courts for the District to pay the employee contributions to PERS/OPSRP on behalf of employees as described above, then:
 - a. Six percent (6%) shall be added to the base salary and the salary schedule shall be recomputed on the same index to be effective prospectively;
 - b. The District shall be relieved of its obligation to pay the six percent (6%) employee contribution required by ORS 238/238a.

Article 13: Extended Time Compensation

Except as provided elsewhere in the Agreement, work outside of the regular eight (8) hour day and regular work year is voluntary and must be pre-approved. This work shall be paid as follows:

A. Per Diem Rate

Extended Contract Service

Except where otherwise designated, members who complete Extended Contract service, approved in advance by the administration, shall have their pay calculated at 1/190 of their salary. Examples include but are not limited to:

- a. Summer school teaching;
- b. TOSA's working with new teachers before the school year begins;
- c. Extended contract year for Counselors and Media Specialists when performing their regular duties;
- d. Extended contract hours such as teaching an added class period;
- e. When required training is offered outside of the work day as an alternative to release from regular work day duties.

B. Hourly Rates

Professional Service Rate

If a member agrees to participate in professional service activities beyond the workday or work year, the member shall be paid an hourly rate equal to 1/8th of the per diem rate of step 7, column D of the salary schedule for the year the work occurs. Examples of professional service work include but are not limited to:

- a. Curriculum work performed during the summer;
- b. Curriculum renewal work performed after the work day;
- c. EBS and EBIS committee work performed outside of the workday or work year; and
- d. Voluntary training that takes place during the summer.
- e. When emergency situations, such as inclement weather, requires supervision of students beyond the work day.

- 2. Supervision Rate (open gym, after school detention, am/pm supervision) shall be paid at an hourly rate equal to 1/8th of the per diem rate of step 5 column D multiplied by .55 (55%) of the salary schedule for the year in which the work occurs.
- 3. Driver Education Rate shall be paid at an hourly rate equal to 1/8th of the per diem rate of step 5 column D of the salary schedule for the year in which the work occurs.
- 4. Middle School Activity Rate shall be paid at a rate equal to 1/8th of the per diem rate of step 5 column D of the salary schedule for the year in which the work occurs. Middle school intramural athletic activities shall also be compensated at the middle school activity rate.
 - Members with prior approval of the administrator may conduct intramural athletic activities for students which are in addition to the regular school program.
 - b. Intramural advisors will generally supervise activities consistent with a class size of twenty-five (25).
- 5. Moving Rate shall be paid at an hourly rate equal to 1/8th of the per diem rate of step 5, column A of the salary schedule for the year in which the work occurs.
- 6. Elementary School Activity Rate shall be paid at a rate equal to 1/8th of the per diem rate of step 3 column D of the salary schedule for the year in which the work occurs. It is intended that this rate not be applied to any other activity.

Article 14: Extended Responsibility

A. Schedule Construction

- 1. The Extended Responsibility Placement and Salary Schedules are set forth in Appendix C.
- 2. Horizontal increments shall be five (5) percent of the first step in the classification.
- 3. If the District fully funds a sport/activity with assistants, it shall fund the head coach/advisor position as well as all assistants.
- B. Requests for Placement or Movement on Extended Responsibility Schedule
 - 1. A joint committee of six (6) members three (3) designated by the Association and three (3) by the District shall be formed to review requests for movement and placement on the Extended Responsibility Schedule. Recommendations, if any, shall be directed to the Superintendent and the President of the Association. The committee shall meet on an ad hoc basis as needed at the request of either party to this agreement.
 - 2. Criteria for placement and/or movement may include:
 - a. Documentation presented by the member making the request;
 - b. A comparison of the position's placement on the schedule and responsibilities with comparable positions in the metropolitan area.
 - c. Recommendation of the Administrator.
 - 3. If a position is not included on the Extended Responsibility Schedule, then the District shall pay members for pre-approved extended time authorized to be paid in accordance with Article 13: Extended Time Compensation.

C. Assignments

The District will make every attempt to fill the Extended Responsibility assignments from members of the bargaining unit.

D. Extended Responsibility

Employment will not be contingent upon accepting Extended Responsibility assignments within the District and will not be used as a condition of continued employment.

If a member is to be removed from Extended Responsibilities for performance based issues prior to the completion date of the contract, there must be:

- 1. An evaluation conference with the member.
- Sufficient time to correct deficiencies.

E. Compensation

Each member receiving Extended Responsibility pay for seasonal assignments shall have the option of receiving their pay in a lump sum (separate check) after the completion of the season (December, March or May) or beginning with the first month of the season (September, December or March) distributed over the remaining pay periods in the fiscal year.

F. Notification of Change of Assignment

The member will be notified as soon as possible when a decision is made to change an Extended Responsibility assignment and, upon request of the member, the Administration will provide a written statement of reasons for the change. If the member is not satisfied with the written response, the member may request an informal hearing with the Superintendent for the purpose of reviewing the change of assignment.

G. Extended Pay for Post-Season Activity

1. Athletic Coaches

- a. Team Sports: Head coaches and assistant coaches will be paid an additional stipend for OSAA-sponsored state competition at the rate of ten (10) percent per week of the coaches' Extended Responsibility contract per week.
- b. Individual Sports: Head coaches and the coach of the participating athlete(s) will be paid an additional stipend for OSAA-sponsored state competition at the rate of seven (7) percent per week of the coaches' Extended Responsibility contract per week of actual competition when individuals or groups of athletes participate.

2. Non-Athletic Coaches:

- a. Post Season during the School Year: Non-athletic coaches/advisors involved in post season events will be paid an additional stipend at the rate of five (5) percent per week of the advisors' Extended Responsibility contract per week of actual competition.
- b. Post Season beyond the School Year: Non-athletic coaches/advisors involved in state competition beyond the school year will be paid an additional stipend at the rate of ten (10) percent of the advisors' Extended Responsibility contract per week worked.

H. Content Area Leaders

- 1. Content Area Leaders will apply through a building internal process and be chosen by a vote of the members of their department in consultation with administration. They will be instructional representatives for their department and work with their administrator to understand the expectations of the role. Should a Content Area Leader not meet the expectations of the role, the administrator shall appoint a replacement for the remainder of the school year. Content Area Leaders must be contracted members. They will have no supervisory roles over other members.
- 2. Content area leaders are liaisons between their department and district/building administration.
- 3. High school and middle school content area leaders shall be allowed a maximum of four (4) days of substitute time plus stipend.

HS Content Area Leaders:

Alt Ed
Fine and Performing Arts
World Language
Counseling
Language Arts
Learning Specialist
Math
PE/Health
Science
Social Studies
CTE/Electives (consolidate computer network here)
TWI
ELD

MS Content Area Leaders:

6th Grade

7th Grade

8th Grade

Electives

Student Services (SpEd/Counseling)

ELD/TWI

4. Content area stipend will be determined by the total number of classified and licensed members within the department.

Expected Absences

Members who are expected to miss less than one-half (1/2) day of classes because of extended responsibility duties shall not be responsible for finding someone to substitute for them. Prior information of expected absences should be given to the Administrator or designee who shall see that arrangements for a substitute are made.

Article 15: Insurance

A. Medical, Dental and Vision Insurance Premiums

The District shall contribute towards a monthly premium for the selected medical insurance plan (including dental and vision) for the member, spouse/partner and qualifying dependents on a composite basis:

1. Insurance Premiums

As of October 1, 2024, the District shall contribute \$2,124.23 towards the monthly premium for the Oregon Educators Benefit Board (OEBB) medical, dental and vision insurance plans, an increase of 3.4% from the prior-year contribution.

As of October 1, 2025, the District shall contribute \$2,196.44 towards the monthly premium for the Oregon Educators Benefit Board (OEBB) medical, dental and vision insurance plans, an increase of 3.4% from the prior-year contribution.

- 2. Members who select an insurance plan option that costs more than the District monthly contribution amount shall pay the difference between the total premium cost and the District contribution through a payroll deduction. All payments for out-of-pocket premiums owed by members will be paid through a District Section 125 plan.
- 3. Members who select an insurance plan option with premium costs below the District cap, receive 50% of the difference between the total premium cost and the District contribution. This money will be placed into a Section 125 plan including an HSA (for High deductible (HDHP), HSA compliant health plan participants). The 50% of the savings that is not paid to the member shall be returned to the District, as well as any unused portion of the member's 125 plan amount. This paragraph becomes null and void if the Association selects tiered plans.
- 4. Members may "waive" (not recommended) participation in group plans for medical, dental and/or vision coverage subject to insurance carrier's or OEBB rules and regulations; however, according to OEBB rules, members who waive insurance coverage may not receive unused District contributions in compensation, or in a Section 125 plan which includes an HSA (for High deductible (HDHP), HSA compliant health plan participants).
- 5. It is understood that the amount in Section A.1. is a maximum District contribution toward the medical, dental, and vision premiums. The District and the Association agree premiums shall include any

administrative fees. Any administrative costs assessed by OEBB shall be considered to be part of premium costs for the insurance program and are subject to the same contribution limitations stated above.

B. Part-time Members

District contributions for insurance shall be computed for part-time members on the following basis:

- 1. Members working three-quarters time (.75 FTE) or more shall receive the full District contribution, as listed in Section A.1.
- 2. Members working one-half time (.50 FTE) or more but less than three-quarters time (.75 FTE) shall receive half the District contribution, as listed in Section A.1.
- 3. Licensed employees working less than one-half time (.50 FTE) shall not be entitled to any District contribution for insurance.

C. Insurance Committee

- 1. The District and the Association agree to convene an insurance committee composed of three persons appointed by the Association and three persons appointed by the District.
- 2. During the spring of each year, the committee will meet to recommend which programs shall be offered to members, beginning October 1 of each year. Members shall be insured through the Oregon Education Benefits Board's (OEBB's) plans unless required by law. The decision of the Association on choices of plans shall be final.

D. Statewide Insurance Pool

- 1. If the selected provider (OEBB unless another alternative is mutually agreed upon) does not offer composite rated plans, but only tier-rated plans, the District's medical, dental and vision contribution for all of the members of the bargaining unit shall be pooled. The insurance committee shall recommend and the Association shall have the final decision over what contribution from the pool shall be made on behalf of members choosing single, two-party, and full-family coverage.
- 2. Any member not eligible for insurance coverage under the OEBB or other selected carrier plan, shall not receive any District contribution.

E. Other Insurance Benefits

- 1. Long Term Disability (LTD): All members must enroll in and pay the premiums for LTD insurance plan. The LTD plan shall be chosen by the Association.
- 2. The District shall pay the premiums for Group Term Life Insurance of \$20,000 with \$40,000 Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D).
- 3. The District shall provide an Employee Assistance Plan (EAP) that allows each member to refer themselves confidentially to the EAP provider. To protect confidentiality, any data that the provider transmits to the District shall be summary only.

F. Miscellaneous

- 1. Members retiring from the District under the Public Employee Retirement System ("PERS") shall have the option provided by State statute to purchase insurance coverage through plans covering active members.
- 2. All insurance coverage shall be in effect for twelve (12) months. The District practice regarding the payment for insurance for members who are not on paid status for the entire contract year shall not change.

Article 16: Reimbursement Expenses

A. Purchase of Materials and Supplies

The District will reimburse members for reasonable expenses related to their employment. Usually such reimbursements require advance approval from an immediate supervisor. Pro rata reimbursements will be made when mutually agreed upon in advance by the member and supervisor.

B. Travel and Conferences

Expenses for in-state and out-of-state travel shall be reimbursed at rates established by the District for lodging, registration fees and meals for members on official District business. The District shall provide the Association with a District rate schedule at the commencement of each school year.

C. Mileage Reimbursement

The District shall provide a reimbursement for members for travel on behalf of the District or that is required as part of an employment assignment.

- Members shall submit a reimbursement request to the Business Office and reimbursement shall be made within seven (7) working days after the request has been received.
- 2. Mileage shall be reimbursed at the maximum IRS automobile rate.

D. Timing of Reimbursement Requests

Under this article, the District shall reimburse members for request submitted to the Business Office no later than 60 days after incurring expense. Requests submitted beyond 60 days will not be reimbursed.

Article 17: Transfers and Vacancies

A. Vacancies

 A vacant position is a new or an existing position which has not been filled after an administrator has applied or determined not to apply Section F5: Intra-Building Classroom Transfers. A position temporarily filled 1) by a member returning from leave or layoff, or 2) by a member being reassigned due to enrollment decline. A new position is an added position to the building and/or department.

2. Posting of Vacancies

- a. The District shall post all vacant and new positions. All postings shall be done on the District web page for a minimum of six (6) working days. No vacancy or new position shall be filled until after the required internal posting and all interviews have been completed.
- b. If a vacancy or new position occurs during the school year, an exception to the six (6) day rule of posting may be made during the week prior to Labor Day or if the Association President or designee authorizes the exception with a written approval.
- c. Non-classroom positions include, but are not limited to, library/media specialists, counselors, learning specialists, reading specialists, staff development specialists, department coordinators, team leaders, coordinators, instructional leaders, talented and gifted specialists, English-As-A-Second Language, alternative education teaching positions, CE2 teaching positions, student assistance facilitators, community liaison, and activities director.
- d. All known vacancies for the following work year shall be posted as they become available.

B. Interview

1. Any member who applies for a vacant or new position will be notified either verbally or in writing of the disposition of the application.

- 2. All members who meet the stated qualifications must be interviewed for any vacant or new position for which they apply unless the vacant or new position is with an administrator in the member's building to whom they have applied in the last four (4) years and within the same level (primary K-3; intermediate 4-5; middle 6-8; or high school 9-12) in the same department or with an administrator to whom they have applied in the last two (2) years if the administrator and member are not in the same building at the same time of the new application.
- 3. A member who applies for a vacant or new position may be compared with outside candidates.

C. Applications

Applications for vacancies and new positions will be made to Human Resources using the District's electronic application system. Any member who applies for a position will be notified of the disposition of the vacancy within six (6) calendar days after the position is filled.

D. Assignments

- 1. An "assignment" shall refer to the bargaining unit position in which a member is placed. A position shall include the grade level (elementary) and/or department (secondary), and/or specialty (e.g., special education, psychologist, speech therapist or librarian) and the building(s) in which the member is stationed.
- 2. All current members will be given written notice of their specific assignments for the forthcoming year not later than the last school day of the preceding school year. Members shall be notified in writing of any assignment changes that occur during the summer recess period.

E. Transfers

- 1. A "transfer" shall mean a change from a member's current assignment to a different assignment.
- 2. An "involuntary transfer" is one in which a member is transferred at the initiation of the District.

3. A voluntary transfer is one in which a member applies for and is selected to fill a vacant position.

F. Voluntary Transfers

- 1. A member may request a transfer from one building to another or to a vacancy or new position within a given building.
- 2. A member desiring to transfer voluntarily to another assignment for the following year may submit a written request to the District office on or before March 15.
- 3. The District shall consider all such voluntary transfer requests until May 15. If voluntary transfer requests are approved the transfer supersedes any posting requirement. If the request is denied the Human Resources office will notify the member within six (6) days after May 15. The District shall take into consideration the following factors when making a voluntary transfer:
 - a. Contribution which the member could make to students in the new position.
 - b. Qualifications of the member (areas of competency).
 - c. Improvement of the educational program.
 - d. Opportunity for professional growth.
 - e. Desire of the member regarding assignment or transfer.
 - f. Length of service in the District (other factors being equal, the length of service shall be the determining factor).
- 4. Vacancies for positions that occur after the May 15 transfer date shall be posted as per Section A.

5. Intra-Building Classroom Transfers: Within the same building, exchange of classroom positions or classroom reassignments which are approved by the administrator shall be subject only to Sections D, F, G8 and H.

G. Involuntary Transfers

- 1. Involuntary transfers are those in which a member is transferred, on the initiation of the District.
- 2. Administrators shall first consider other options to involuntary transfer through the collaborative process.
- When making an involuntary transfer due to enrollment changes, volunteers will first be requested and considered from among the staff members. Once a request for volunteers is communicated, members must respond within two working days in order to be considered. In the absence of volunteers, the member with the least seniority, excluding first and second year probationary members, shall generally be transferred. This section does not apply to a reduction in force, but would apply to involuntary transfers after the reduction in force is completed. Transfer requests shall be considered during a reduction in force.
- 4. The Association shall be notified, in writing, of all inter-building involuntary transfers along with a written statement of reasons for such transfer.
- 5. In the event of an involuntary transfer, the affected member shall be promptly notified, in writing, of the reasons for the transfer. Notice will be given to the member as soon as a decision is made or at least ten (10) calendar days before the transfer, if possible. If requested, the member may meet with the Director of Human Resources to discuss the reason for the transfer. The member may respond in writing and have the response placed in their personnel file.
- 6. After a member is assigned or transferred, the member shall have the opportunity to visit the new school and interview with the receiving administrator. The District shall provide up to one (1) day release time for such a visit and interview if requested by the member.

- 7. Where financial loss shall result, such as loss of extended responsibility assignment, the District shall notify the member by June 1, if possible. The Administrator shall give six (6) working days' notice to the member in advance of the meeting for the purpose of discussing change and mediating the financial loss.
- 8. No member shall be subject to an involuntary transfer more than two (2) times within any five (5) year period: a) to another building., b) between grade levels within the same building at elementary school, or c) between departments within the same building. Layoff provisions of Article 20: Reduction in Force/Layoff and Recall supersede this section. Involuntary transfers shall not count against the maximum when they result from the closure of a building, a change in the grade level configuration of a building or as a result of a disciplinary action against a member.

H. Moving Assistance

- 1. Members transferred after July 15 or at any time during the school year to a different class in a different school building, shall be given either two (2) student-free days or two (2) day's pay at moving rate. When the member and administrator jointly agree that they are needed, the member can be given up to three (3) student-free days or pay for three (3) days at the moving rate. The District shall transport the member's books, materials, and other belongings, as well as any classroom furniture, equipment, books and/or supplies that are designated to move with the member.
- 2. When the District initiates the need for a member to move between offices or classrooms the member shall be given one (1) day's moving rate. When the member and administrator jointly agree that an abnormal amount of classroom equipment needs to be moved, the member can be given up to two (2) student-free days or pay for two (2) days at the moving rate. The District shall transport the member's books, materials, and other belongings, as well as any classroom furniture, equipment, books and/or supplies that are designated to move with the member.

Article 18: Retiree Return to Work

- A. Members who retire from the District and seek to be re-hired for the remainder of the school year, will be notified of whether or not they will be re-hired within thirty (30) days after their letter of intent to retire and written request for re-hire are submitted to the District. Members may withdraw their letter of intent to retire and written request for re-hire within ten (10) days of said notification.
- B. Members who have retired from the District and have been rehired will be paid for the remainder of the school year in which they retire at the same salary schedule placement as prior to retirement. For members who retire and are eligible under PERS, the district will consider reemployment requests at the same salary schedule placement as prior to retirement.
- C. Members who have retired from the District effective after the first working day of a school year and rehired for the remainder of the year will be placed on temporary contracts. Any full-time contract for a subsequent school (fiscal) year will be a temporary contract unless the member re-enters the PERS system as an active member. If rehired on a part-time contract that will not exceed 1039 hours in a calendar year, the member will be considered a temporary employee.
- D. Members who have retired from the District and are qualified for the early retirement stipend and insurance coverage in the July 1, 2001 Early Retirement Evergreen Agreement shall receive such stipend and insurance coverage. Members who choose to become a retiree returning to work in the 2022-2023 and 2023-2024 school year as outlined in Art 19 B and who qualify for the July 1, 2001 Early Retirement Evergreen Agreement will delay the start of the early retirement until after the 2022-2023 or 2023-24 school year when they are no longer employed by the district.
- E. Members who retire from the District, and who are subsequently re-hired by the District, shall be members of the bargaining unit provided they meet the eligibility requirements for bargaining unit membership in Article 2: Status of Agreement, Section C: Members. Dues will be prorated from members who work less than full time.
- F. Members retiring but returning to complete the year shall retain only the balance of the current year's sick leave allocation for use after re-hire.

Article 19: Reduction in Force/Layoff and Recall

In the event the District determines that an employee reduction-in-force is necessary, the procedure for such reduction shall be made in accordance with the Article and ORS 342.934.

- A. Members may be laid off as a result of any of the following:
 - 1. The District's inability to provide funds to continue its educational program at its anticipated level.
 - 2. The District's elimination or adjustment of classes or discontinuance of a particular service due to administrative decision.
 - 3. A reduction in student enrollment from anticipated enrollment large enough to warrant financial repercussions.
- B. Before any member is laid off, and in accordance with Article 17: Transfers and Vacancies, the district will hold a meeting with the Association to verify the accuracy of the list of positions and personnel impacted by the RIF. In addition, the District shall make every reasonable effort to:
 - 1. Transfer teachers of courses scheduled for discontinuation to other positions for which they are qualified.
 - 2. Combine positions in a manner which allows members to remain qualified so long as the combined positions meet the curriculum needs of the District and the competence consideration specified in Section D1g of this Article.
- C. In determining members to be laid off, the District shall:
 - 1. Determine whether members to be retained hold proper licenses to fill the remaining positions.
 - 2. Determine seniority of members to be retained, based on the first day of actual continuous service with the District and will include authorized leaves of absences. Extended contract days, extended responsibility days, and non-contracted substitute teaching assignments and days in excess of the regular number of days worked by members new to the District are not considered to be the start of the actual service. Ties shall be broken by drawing lots.

3. Group members district-wide by licenses and/or endorsement areas according to Teacher Standards and Practices Commission (TSPC) current listing of "Subject-Matter Endorsements".

- 4. Group members District-wide by specialized licenses assigned by TSPC and/or agencies other than TSPC. Examples may include:
 - a. School Nurses;
 - b. Speech and Language Pathologists;
 - c. Child Development Specialists;
 - d. Occupational Therapists;
 - e. Physical Therapists;
 - f. Clinical Psychologists/Psychiatrists; and
 - g. Clinical Social Workers
- 5. Determine competence of members within an individual status category, if necessary, under Section D1g of this Article. The status categories for the purpose of this Article are temporary, probationary, and contract.
- 6. Determine if the member has cultural or linguistic expertise (as defined in ORS 342.934). The district shall retain a qualified member with cultural or linguistic expertise who has less seniority if the release of the less senior member would result in a lesser proportion of members with cultural or linguistic expertise compared to members without cultural or linguistic expertise.

D. Layoff

- 1. Reductions within each group, as described in Section C3 and C4 of this Article, will be made according to seniority on the following basis:
 - a. Temporary members within the group will be reduced first.
 - b. If further reductions in force are made within that group, probationary members will be reduced next, unless (1) the probationary members possesses unique skills required for the instructional program and necessary to the District's operation and (2) the minimum skills and endorsements not presently available, or obtainable at the time of layoff from a contract member. The District and the Association may agree to extend the timeline to the first student contact day of the following school year. The District will determine whether remaining

members have proper licenses at the time of layoff to fill remaining positions. As soon as the District reasonably anticipates the need to implement the exception stated in this provision, the District will give written notification to the Association President of the identity of the unique skill in the instructional program and the District operation to which the skill applies.

- c. If further reductions in force are made within that group, the reduction will be made from among the contract members remaining in that group.
- d. Within a single status category of temporary, if the District desires to retain a member with less seniority than a member being released under this Article, the District shall determine that the member being retained has more cultural or linguistic expertise or competence than the member with more seniority who is being released.
- e. Within a single status category of probationary, if the District desires to retain a member with less seniority than a member being released under this Article, the District shall determine that the member being retained has more cultural or linguistic expertise or competence than the member with more seniority who is being released.
- f. Within the status category of contract, if the District desires to retain a member with less seniority than a member being released under this Article, the District shall determine that the member being retained has more cultural or linguistic expertise or competence than the member with more seniority who is being released.
- g. "Competence" means the ability to teach a subject or grade level (K-5, 6-8, 9-12) or to perform the duties of a non-teaching position, based on recent (within the last 5 years) experience or educational attainments, or both, but not based solely on being licensed to teach a subject or grade level.
- h. If a member is involuntarily reduced to part-time employment, the member and Superintendent or designee shall jointly develop a plan for re-training the member in order to maintain full-time employment, provided a suitable vacancy will be available and the member may reasonably be expected to become fully qualified for such vacancy.
- Written notice of layoff will be given to member(s) and the Association President sixty (60) calendar days before a layoff. At the Association's request, the District will provide the Association President with a list showing seniority of District members and will, upon request, promptly notify the Association of changes in this list.

3. The District shall provide paid insurance benefits for a laid off member for a period of at least three (3) months following the member's notice of layoff. Members laid off at the end of a school year shall not be entitled to additional benefits coverage beyond September 30 of that year. Members may continue group insurance coverage at their own expense during the twenty-four (24) months following the date of their layoff or according to the provisions of the carrier, whichever is longer. Payment shall be in accordance with the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

- 4. An administrator shall retain status and seniority as a contract employee and voluntarily may return to teaching in a reduction-in-force situation. However, an administrator who was never employed as a non-administrative employee in the District shall not be eligible to become a non-administrative employee in the District if the effect is to displace a non-administrative contract employee.
- 5. An appeal from a decision on reduction-in-force or a recall under this Article shall be by arbitration under the rules of the Employment Relations Board or by a procedure mutually agreed upon by the Association and the District. The results of the procedure shall be final and binding on the parties. The arbitrator shall confine his/her decisions to the issues which are determined by ORS 342.934.

E. Recall of a Laid-off Member

- 1. During the twenty-seven (27) months following layoff, members will be recalled in reverse order of layoff provided they possess an appropriate license and are competent for any open position. At the member's option, a member may be recalled to any open position provided that (1) no member currently holding an appropriate license for the position remains on the recall list; and (2) the member obtains an appropriate license by the first student-contact day of the following school year.
- 2. In the event of recall, the District will notify by certified mail, the Association President and the member at the last address given to the District by the member. A member will have ten (10) business days from the receipt of the letter to notify the District of an intent to return and must be able to return within twenty (20) calendar days from the date that the District receives the member's notice of intent to return. In the event a laid off member is recalled when he/she is employed by another District, he/she shall have sixty-five (65) calendar days to return to work. If released by the other school district the member shall return within five days of release. Failure of the member to meet the time limits above will be considered as resignation by the member.
- 3. A contract member within a group will be recalled first and shall retain the status obtained before the release.

4. A probationary member who is recalled shall have years taught for the District counted as if the employment had been continuous for purposes of obtaining contract status. A probationary member shall not acquire service toward contract status while on layoff.

- 5. Temporary members in a group may be recalled to temporary positions after a list of contract and probationary members in that group has been exhausted. Temporary members' recall rights apply only to openings in temporary positions within their group which occur during the period of time for which the member was originally contracted.
- 6. A full-time member on layoff may reject part-time job offers and will remain on the recall list and retain full-time status as long as the member's rejection of the part-time work does not result in the member obtaining additional unemployment benefits beyond what he/she would have received if the member had accepted the part-time work. A full-time member on layoff who accepts a part-time job offer, will remain on the recall list and retain full-time status. Members who are partially laid off (have reduced FTE) shall have recall rights to the portion of their position that was reduced. A part-time member on layoff may reject full-time job offers and not lose recall status.
- 7. All benefits to which a member was entitled at the time of layoff, including unused, accumulated sick leave will be restored to the member upon the member's return to active employment. The member will be placed on the salary schedule held at the time of layoff and given a step increment according to Article 12: Pay Practices, Section H: Step Increment Eligibility.
- 8. Members covered by this Article will be given consideration for substituting; such will not affect the member's recall rights.

Article 20: Member Rights and Responsibilities

A. Just Cause

- Dismissal, non-renewal, non-extension or retention of contract, temporary and probationary members shall be governed exclusively by the provisions of the Accountability for Schools for the 21st Century Law. Regular part-time members shall have their contract employees' status determined in accordance with Oregon Revised Statutes.
- Discipline of a member (other than that described in Section A1) which results in oral or written reprimand, suspension or reduction of rank or compensation shall be with just cause and shall be subject to review under the grievance procedure. Enforcement of member discipline shall be fair. The specific reasons forming the basis for the discipline shall be made available to the member. Neither discipline nor evaluation shall be based upon complaints that are not processed through the complaint procedure in Article 23: Complaint Procedure. Evaluation is not a form of discipline. Reprimands shall be made privately and not in the presence of students, parents, unit members or members of the community.
- 3. Members not covered by the Accountability for Schools for the 21st Century Law who have been employed by the District for a period of not less than three (3) successive years and who have been reelected by the District after the completion of such three (3) year period for the next school year shall not be dismissed or non-renewed without just cause.
- 4. Members shall be suspended with pay until such time as the District has completed its investigation.
- B. Criticism: Any negative criticism of a member or administrator shall be made only in private.

C. Personnel Files

1. Review of Files

- a. Member personnel files are confidential and shall be open for inspection by the member, persons designated by the member and persons designated by the District. Members have the right to review and receive copies, at cost, of any materials that are made a part of the personnel file, except for confidential records used in the original hiring process.
- b. The District and Association shall encourage members to review their personnel file at least once a year.

2. Member Receipt of Documentation

- a. The District shall send copies of all documentation not submitted by the member relating to the member's performance and standards to the member at the same time it places the same material into the member's personnel file. The District shall send this material to the member in an envelope marked "Confidential".
- b. The business forms such as Personal Data Sheets, Verification of License, Attendance and Service Record from previous employers will not be routinely sent to members.

3. Derogatory Material

- a. Derogatory material shall be reviewed and signed by the member before it is placed in the personnel file. Such signature does not necessarily indicate agreement with the contents thereof. The member will also have the right to submit a written response which shall be attached to the file copy.
- b. Any material in the personnel file which has not been signed by the member, except when the member refuses to sign, shall not be used to support the discipline or dismissal of the member.

4. Miscellaneous

The files shall contain all material relevant to a member's employment. The file shall be housed in the District office. The member will also have the right to submit a written statement relating to any of these matters and such statement shall be placed in the personnel file.

5. Working Files

The building administrator may maintain a working file on each member assigned to the building. When the building administrator is no longer assigned to that building, the working file may remain in the building if the complete file is reviewed by the out-going administrator designee and the member. If the member desires, they may include a response to any item in the working file. Upon request from the member the building administrator will provide a copy of any materials in the working file to the member.

D. Association Security

Members shall have the right to join the Association and to assist and participate in its activities. Membership shall not be a condition of employment.

E. Personal Life

The personal life of members including but not limited to political beliefs and/or religious beliefs is not an appropriate concern of the District except where it can be demonstrated that the personal conduct at issue is adversely affecting the members' fitness for, or performance of, their assigned responsibilities.

F. Substitutes

The list of District substitutes will be available for review in each building.

G. Representation

1. Whenever a member is required to appear before any administrator or representative of the District concerning a matter which could reasonably result in the member's dismissal, non-renewal, non-extension, suspension, disciplinary action or being placed on a program of assistance for improvement, the member shall be advised of the nature and purpose of the meeting and of the member's right to have a representative of the Association present at the member's request. This notice shall be given twenty-four (24) hours in advance, if possible.

2. Denial of a member's request to have an Association representative present in a conference resulting in discipline or when being placed on a program of assistance for improvement may be asserted as one of the reasons why the action taken was not for just cause.

Article 21: Nondiscrimination

The Association and the District, in compliance with applicable state and federal nondiscrimination laws, affirm adherence to the principles of free choice and agree that they shall not discriminate against any member covered by this Agreement because of age, race, color, religion, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, national origin, or membership or non-membership in the Association. The above list is not intended to be all-inclusive; other classifications are applicable based upon local, state and federal law.

Article 22: Complaint Procedure

A. Procedure

If a complaint is made against member to the Administration, a conference with the member shall be held under the following circumstances:

- If the evaluating administrator intends to make a record in the evaluation report of the complaint.
- 2. If the administrator intends to place a record of such complaint in the member's personnel file, or take any other disciplinary action against the member.
- 3. If, in the administrator's judgment, such complaint is sufficiently relevant to the member's performance as to indicate the desirability of a conference.
- 4. If the member learns of a complaint and requests such a conference.

B. Conference

In any such event, the member will be notified (unless Section A4 applies) and a conference shall be held with the member within ten (10) contract days after the member requests it or the administrator receives a written complaint sufficiently serious to warrant action described in Section A. The administrator shall put in writing any oral complaint, if after the conference the administrator decides to use the complaint as described in Section A1 or 2. The administrator shall not be required to violate the confidence of a parent or student pertaining to the complaint until the complaint will be used as described in Section A1 and 2.

C. Miscellaneous

- 1. Void Complaints: Any such complaint which the Administration chooses not to discuss with the member shall be considered void, shall not be considered in the member's evaluation and shall not be used against the member in any subsequent action by the District.
- 2. The member has the right to representation at all meetings relating to this procedure.

3. Only complaints that are processed according to this procedure and which the administrator has determined to be valid may be used on a member's evaluation.

D. Disposition

If the disposition of the complaint results in a record of its being placed in the member's personnel file and the member disagrees with the disposition, the member may submit a written statement setting forth the reasons he or she disagrees with the disposition and this statement will also be placed in the member's personnel file.

Article 23: General Provisions

A. Compliance

Any contract between the District and an individual member shall be subject to and consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. If an individual contract with any individual member contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement, this Agreement, during its duration, shall be controlling.

B. Savings

If any provisions of this Agreement are declared by proper legislative, administrative or judicial authority to be unlawful or unenforceable, or by the inability of the employer to perform to the terms of the agreement all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement.

C. Modification

This agreement shall not be modified in whole or part by the parties, except by an instrument in writing duly executed by both parties.

D. Strikes and Lockouts

1. Strike

Neither the Association, its officers or agents, nor any of the members covered by this Agreement will, individually or in concert, engage in or support during duty hours (work hours except duty-free lunch) strikes or any other interruption of work. In the event that any members violate this Article, the Association shall immediately notify such members in writing to cease and desist from such action and shall instruct them to immediately return to their normal duties. Members who violate any of the provisions of this Article may be disciplined, including discharge.

2. Lockout

There will be no lockout of the members of the bargaining unit by the District.

Article 24: District Rights

It is recognized, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, the District shall retain whatever rights and authority are necessary for it to operate and direct the affairs of the District in all its various aspects, including, but not limited to, the right to direct the working forces; to plan, direct and control all the operations and services of the personnel by which such operations and services are to be conducted;

- A. To determine whether goods or services should be made or purchased;
- B. To hire, promote, demote, suspend, discipline, discharge or relieve members due to lack of work or other legitimate reasons;
- C. To make and enforce reasonable rules and regulations; and
- D. To change or eliminate existing methods, equipment or facilities. The District has the right to adopt new policies, administrative rules, or regulations, or revise existing policies, rules, or regulations, provided these policies are consistent with this Agreement, and applicable State and Federal laws.

Article 25: Association Rights

A. Public Information

- 1. The Association shall have access to all public information it requests.
- 2. The Association shall reimburse the District for actual costs incurred in the development and delivery of public information.

B. Association Meetings

- 1. The Association will be allowed to use any District building for Association meetings with prior notice to the administrator, who will approve the request unless the meeting is to be held during the workday and interferes with already scheduled building use. The District may make a reasonable charge when special services are required beyond normal operations.
- 2. An Association representative may meet with individual members during nonstudent contact time with prior notice to the administrator, who will approve the conference unless it directly interferes with the members' assigned duties, Association representatives may meet with groups of members during their duty-free lunch periods.
- 3. Whenever an Association representative visits a District facility, the Association representative shall notify the facility office of his/her presence if someone is in the office.

C. School Equipment

- The Association may use school equipment, including email, district computers, google docs, copy machines, calculators, and all types of audio-visual equipment at reasonable times when the same are not otherwise in use in accordance with the District's Technology Acceptable Use Policy. The Association shall pay for the reasonable cost of all materials and supplies incidental to such use, and for any repairs necessitated as a result thereof. When applicable, scheduling of school equipment for use under this Article will be coordinated by the administrator of the building in which such equipment are located.
- 2. The equipment will be used outside the member workday and the operators will be qualified.
- 3. The Association shall pay for labor, materials and supplies used and for reasonable repairs necessitated because of Association use.

D. Bulletin Boards

- 1. The District shall provide the Association with a bulletin board space in a faculty room in each building for use of the Association in communicating with members.
- 2. Such communications will be initialed by an Association officer or representative or identified as an official Association document.
- 3. The Association will send a copy of the material to be posted District-wide to the Superintendent or designee at the time it is sent to each building.

E. In-service

The District shall schedule two (2) hours of continuous time for Association use during the District's preschool in-service day. Every effort will be made to schedule this time between 8:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon. The Association will coordinate the time with the District to provide any unused time to the District.

F. Faculty Meetings

An Association representative shall be allowed to make brief announcements at the conclusion of all faculty meetings upon prior notification to the administrator.

G. New Member In-service

The Association shall have up to one (1) hour at a time determined by the District, to meet with new employees during the new employees' in-service day at the beginning of the school year.

H. School Board

- 1. The Association may suggest items of business to the Superintendent for the Board's meeting agenda by delivering the suggestions five (5) working days prior to the Board meeting.
- 2. The District shall provide the Association President and building representatives, through the interschool mail, with a preliminary agenda and approved Board minutes at the same time such is sent to the Board.
- 3. At the same time as the Board packets are sent or given to Board members, the District shall provide the Association President at school and mail to the Association office an advance agenda, Board minutes and a copy of the packet (exclusive of confidential information).
- 4. Copies of Board material for meeting (excluding confidential matters or matters for executive session) will be provided at the meeting unless a request based on the agenda is made to receive it at some time after the material is sent to the Board.

Article 26: Association Dues

A. Association Dues

1. Dues Deduction Authorization

By September 10th if any bargaining unit member has discontinued their membership with TTEA and its affiliates during the previous year, the membership department will include their names separately on a formal letter to the district. For any employee who becomes a member of the Association thereafter, the Association shall notify the District of bargaining unit members who have elected to have dues deducted from their paychecks and shall identify the dues to be deducted from each.

In addition, if there are any changes from the previous year the Association will provide a formal letter from the OEA Membership Department that confirms OEA possesses sufficient documentation of dues deduction authorization for those members. The Association shall make available to the district documented proof of dues deduction authorization for new employees. The District shall enact dues deduction changes on the pay period following a notification.

B. Deductions

- 1. The District shall deduct the full local dues from the September and October pay of each member and promptly remit the amount collected to the Tigard-Tualatin Education Association.
- 2. The District shall deduct one tenth (1/10) the state and national dues each month from November through August. Within ten(10) business days after each pay period, the District shall send to Oregon Education Association, in a single payment, the combined National Education Association and Oregon Education Association dues, including voluntary Association contributions, deducted for the month.
- 3. Deductions for members hired after the commencement of the school year shall be prorated so that the required amount will be deducted by August.

C. Employee Information

1. Within ten (10) business days after each regular monthly pay day, the District shall send the Association an electronic worksheet of the NEA/OEA/TTEA dues, including voluntary Association contributions deducted from each member's paycheck. The data attached to the remittance checks shall include date of birth, FTE, and worksite of each employee who had dues deducted from their paycheck.

- 2. Every 120 days, the District shall provide to the OEA an electronic worksheet of each employee in the bargaining unit (both active members and non-members) that includes first date of service, FTE, classification or title, PERS classification, worksite, position on the salary schedule, residential address and current phone numbers if available. Whenever a new employee is hired into the bargaining unit, The District shall provide the above information within ten (10) days of hire.
- 3. The District shall provide monthly notification to the OEA Membership Specialist of employees in the bargaining unit placed on an unpaid leave of absence, retired, laid off, resigned, or changed their name.

D. Indemnification

The Association agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the District harmless from employee or former-employee claims, orders, or judgments against the district concerning the dues deductions procedures outlined in this agreement. The Association's obligations are contingent upon the District: 1) giving the Association at least two-week's notice, in writing, of any claim; 2) and fully cooperating with the Association and its designated counsel in the defense of the claim. The Association's obligation does not extend to criminal allegations or any action brought against the District by the Association. In the event the District properly invokes this paragraph, the Association will provide the attorney to defend against the claim. In the event the District wishes to use its own attorney, the District will pay the fees and costs of said attorney.

Article 27: Labor-Management Committee

- A. District-Wide Labor-Management Committee
 - 1. <u>Purpose</u>: The Committee will advise the Association and District regarding problems in interpretation or implementation of the Agreement between the District and the Association, and to discuss general issues related to employment relations. Recommended changes to the Collective Bargaining Agreement must be ratified by the District and the Association.
 - 2. <u>Membership</u>: The Committee shall consist of an equal number of representatives from the Association and the District. Each party will determine their own membership on the committee.
 - 3. <u>Meetings</u>: The Committee shall meet at least quarterly or at the call of either party, at a mutually agreed to time and place.
 - 4. <u>Issues</u>: The Committee and/or its sub-committee shall address the following as well as any other issues mutually agreed to by the parties:
 - a. Appropriate classroom/meeting space,
 - b. Safety concerns,
 - c. Class size/workload;
 - d. Unresolved issues from the building level; and
 - e. Streamlining workload/paperwork.
- B. School administrators and building representatives are encouraged to meet as needed to resolve issues involving contract implementation in the building.

Article 28: Site Councils

- A. Participation for members on Site Councils shall be voluntary. Council members shall be selected as provided by law.
- B. If any aspect of a site council decision is contrary to the terms of the Collective Bargaining Agreement, Board Policy and/or Administrative regulations, that aspect will not be implemented unless an appropriate waiver is obtained from the Association President or designee and the Superintendent and/or Board Chairperson. If such a waiver is obtained, the Collective Bargaining Agreement, the Board Policy, and/or Administrative regulations will be deemed modified only to the extent necessary to implement this aspect of the program.
- C. The Collective Bargaining Agreement, Board Policy, and/or Administrative Regulations will remain in full force and effect and have full application to the members who are affected by a site-based decision making program.

Article 29: Grievance Procedure

The following grievance procedures shall apply to members. There shall be no restraint, interference, discrimination or reprisal exerted on any member or party of interest choosing to use such procedures.

A. Definitions

- Grievance. A "grievance" is a contention or a claim by a member, group of members or Association of an alleged violation or improper application or interpretation of the provisions of this Agreement, School Board policies or administrative rules or regulations.
- 2. The Grievant. A member, group of members or Association who initiates a "grievance" as defined.
- 3. Policy. Policy includes any School Board, school District personnel and school building policy.
- 4. Immediate Supervisor. A person below the level of administrator who has the responsibility for immediate, direct supervision of members. Not all members have immediate supervisors and are, therefore, directly responsible to the administrator.
- Day: Any day in which members are scheduled to work as a part of their regular employment.

B. Purpose

The purpose of this procedure is to secure, at the lowest possible level, equitable solutions to the problems which may arise from time to time affecting members. Both parties agree these proceedings will be kept informal and confidential as may be appropriate at any level of the procedure.

C. Conditions

1. Time Limits and Supplemental Condition

- a. If the initial request for a grievance is not reduced to writing within fifteen (15) days of reasonable opportunity to have knowledge of the act or conditions on which the grievance is based, the grievance shall be considered waived. The parties may mutually agree in writing to extend timelines in order to work on informal problem solving solutions prior to filing a grievance.
- b. Grievance procedures shall be processed as rapidly as possible. The number of days indicated at each step should be considered as maximum and every effort should be made to expedite the process. Under unusual circumstances, time limits may be extended by mutual consent of both parties.
- c. Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate the decision in writing within the specified time limits shall permit the grievant to proceed to the next step. Failure of the grievant to appeal a decision to the next step within the specified time limit shall be considered acceptance of the decision rendered at that step.

2. Joint Grievance

If two (2) or more members have the same grievance, a joint grievance may be submitted and processed as a single grievance.

3. Year End Grievances

In the event that a grievance is filed at such a time that it cannot be processed through all the steps of the following procedure by the end of the school year, and if left unresolved until the beginning of the following school year could result in irreparable harm to the grievant, the time limits herein may be reduced so that the grievance procedure may be completed prior to the end of the school year or as soon thereafter as is practicable. If either party chooses, a year end grievance may continue over to the following year.

4. Representative Assistance for the Grievant

A member may have an Association representative or a person of their choice to represent them at each step of the procedure. The Association shall have the right to be present at all stages of the procedure and to state its position regarding the grievance.

Grievance Form

Grievances shall be submitted on an approved form. The grievance shall state the provision(s) of the contract, Board policy, administrative rule or regulation alleged to have been violated, and the remedy requested.

D. Procedure

In cases where the immediate supervisor or administrator has no involvement in the circumstances giving rise to the grievance, the informal conference shall be held with the Superintendent or designee. If not settled, the grievance shall follow Step Two as it applies.

1. Step One

- a. Any member who has a grievance shall first try to resolve it with their immediate supervisor or administrator, or the person who has the power to grant the remedy.
- b. If, as a result of the informal discussion in (a), the matter is not resolved to the satisfaction of the grievant, the grievant shall set forth their grievance in writing to their administrator and/or their immediate supervisor within five contract (5) days after the informal discussion.
- c. A formal conference shall be held within five contract (5) days after the administrator receives the written copy of the grievance. The conference shall include the grievant, their representative, if they wish, the administrator and the immediate supervisor, or a person of the administrator choice. The administrator shall render a decision in writing within five (5) contract days following the conference.

2. Step Two

a. If the grievance has not been resolved to the grievant's satisfaction after receiving the written decision from the administrator, the grievant may appeal in writing to the Superintendent within five contract (5) days of receiving the written decision from the administrator.

- b. The grievant may request non-binding mediation as an alternative to a Superintendent hearing. If the parties mutually agree to mediate, selection of a mediator will be made using the same process described in this article (Section F3) for selecting an arbitrator. The parties will schedule to meet with a mediator to attempt to resolve the grievance. In the event the parties are unsuccessful in resolving the dispute within twenty contract (20) days, then the grievant may appeal to Level E or F where applicable.
- c. If the parties do not mutually agree to mediate, the Superintendent shall grant a hearing within five contract (5) days after receiving the appeal, and they shall render a decision within five contract (5) days after the hearing.

E. School Board Hearing

- 1. Section E will apply exclusively to a grievance or that part of a grievance which alleges violation or improper application or interpretation of (a) provision(s) of School Board policies or administrative rules or regulations. Such matters will not be subject to arbitration.
- 2. If the action in Step Two fails to resolve the grievance to the member's satisfaction, the grievant may appeal to the Board within five contract (5) days after either (a) receipt of the Superintendent's decision or (b) an unsuccessful attempt to reach a mutually agreed-to resolution through mediation in Step Two.
 - a. The appeal must be in writing to the Board through the Superintendent's office. The matter will be heard at the next regular Board meeting which is scheduled at least five contract (5) days after the appeal is received by the Superintendent's office.

b. The Board will grant a hearing in public unless by law the grievance falls into one of the specific statutory exceptions in ORS 192.660 of the open meeting law. The hearing will include, but not be limited to, the grievant, their representative and/or legal counsel if they wish, the Superintendent or designee and the immediate supervisor. The parties have the right to call witnesses and conduct cross examination, except in those unusual circumstances where the Board determines each party can fully present its position and receive a fair hearing without such procedures. The Board shall allow each party to present its position on the need for such procedures before making such determination. A written decision of the Board shall be rendered within five contract (5) days of the close of the hearing.

F. Contract Arbitration

A grievance which involves the alleged violation or improper interpretation or application of a specific provision of the Agreement, and which is not subject to jurisdiction of the Fair Dismissal Appeals Board or any proceeding for dismissal, non-renewal or non-extension of contract, probationary and temporary members, may be submitted to arbitration under the following conditions:

- 1. All required steps provided for in the grievance procedure must first be exhausted by both parties.
- 2. Within twenty (20) contract days of the written decision in Step Two, the Association shall notify the Superintendent of its intent to submit the grievance to arbitration.
- 3. When such a request has been made, the arbitrator shall be selected from a list provided by the Employment Relations Board. The parties or their designated representatives shall determine by lot the order of elimination and, thereafter, each shall, in that order, alternately strike a name from the list and the seventh individual remaining shall act as the arbitrator.
- 4. The arbitrator so elected shall confer with the representatives of the District and the Association and hold hearings promptly and shall issue their decision not later than thirty (30) days from the date of the close of the hearings or, if oral hearings have been waived, then from the date the final statements and proofs on the issues are submitted to him/her. The

arbitrator(s) shall be without power or authority to make any decision which requires the commission of an act prohibited by law or which is in violation of the terms of this Agreement. Nor shall the arbitrator add to, subtract from, modify or amend any terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have no power to substitute their discretion for that of the Board in any manner not specifically contracted away by the Board. Any decision of the arbitrator with their authority shall be final and binding on the parties.

5. The District and the Association shall share equally any joint costs of the arbitration procedure, such as the fee and expense of the arbitrator and the cost of the hearing room. The hearing will be conducted pursuant to the "Voluntary Rules" of the American Arbitration Association.

Article 30: District Nurses

A. Non-Bargaining Unit Work

If the District decides to employ a classified classroom nurse, the TTEA unit nurse shall coordinate and oversee the work of that nurse as appropriate. The TTEA unit nurse will remain the case manager for the student's medical needs. Each TTEA unit nurse shall bring to the supervisor's attention any situation in which the nurse has a question about priorities and use of work time.

B. Health Services

At the beginning of the work year, the District administrator responsible for District nurses will present to all the nurses the enrollment, special education or 504 files for students who will need skilled nursing services continually during the school day in order to be able to attend school. The nurses, in teams of 2-4, will work under the direction of the supervisor, to ensure that up-to-date doctor's orders are available and on file for each student, and to develop the medical protocols necessary for the student to receive services in the school setting.

C. Emergency Procedures

- Procedures for emergency coverage for one-on-one nursing tasks for nursing dependent students normally covered by the OSEA Chapter 51 Classroom Nurse job description and/or normally performed by employees of Children's' Nursing Service (CNS) or other contracted nursing agencies are attached in Appendix E: Emergency Procedures for Nursing Dependent Students, and shall be incorporated into this Agreement.
- 2. If a district nurse misses his/her duty-free lunch or preparation time because of emergency nursing tasks, he/she shall be compensated at his/her per diem rate of pay for each hour or fraction thereof.
- 3. Each district nurse shall bring to the supervisor's attention serious health risk situations.

Article 31: Successor Agreement

A. Duration

This Agreement shall be effective as of its execution date and shall be binding upon the District, the Association, and its members, and shall remain in full force and effect through June 30, 2024

B. Deadline

The parties agree to communicate with each other an intent to begin Collective Bargaining over a successor agreement no later than February 1 of the year in which this Agreement expires. Such notice shall suggest a date for an initial meeting to establish a bargaining format and timeline, including dates for an exchange of proposals. The full and complete proposal exchange shall occur in two sessions with language proposals being exchanged first and then a second dedicated session to exchange proposals on salary and benefits. This "proposal" exchange shall be completed within seventy-five (75) calendar days of the initial notification. Any agreement so negotiated shall be reduced to writing after ratification by the parties.

APPENDIX A-1:

2024-2025 LICENSED SALARY SCHEDULE

Benefits include PERS pickup

Based on 190 contract days

4% Increase from 2023-24

STEP	ВА	BA+24	BA+45	MA BA+60	MA+20	MA+40
3121		57(12)	DA124 DA145		BA+80	BA+100
1	\$50,726	\$52,756	\$54,781	\$56,812	\$58,841	\$60,870
2	\$53,262	\$55,292	\$57,322	\$59,350	\$61,377	\$63,822
3	\$55,796	\$57,826	\$59,854	\$61,884	\$63,915	\$66,769
4	\$58,334	\$60,365	\$62,392	\$64,420	\$66,450	\$69,724
5	\$60,872	\$62,897	\$64,928	\$66,955	\$68,984	\$72,671
6	\$63,407	\$65,435	\$67,463	\$69,495	\$71,523	\$75,622
7	\$65,943	\$67,970	\$70,000	\$72,030	\$74,061	\$78,571
8	\$68,480	\$70,507	\$72,536	\$74,565	\$76,593	\$81,523
9	\$71,013	\$73,044	\$75,073	\$77,101	\$79,129	\$84,470
10	\$73,550	\$75,579	\$77,609	\$79,640	\$81,667	\$87,423
11	\$76,089	\$78,116	\$80,146	\$82,175	\$84,205	\$90,372
12	\$78,624	\$80,654	\$82,683	\$84,712	\$86,740	\$93,323
13	\$81,162	\$83,192	\$85,220	\$87,250	\$89,279	\$96,272
14	\$0	\$0	\$87,753	\$89,783	\$91,813	\$99,223
15	\$0	\$0	\$90,293	\$92,320	\$94,348	\$102,172

APPENDIX A-2:

2025-2026 LICENSED SALARY SCHEDULE

Benefits include PERS pickup

Based on 190 contract days

4% Increase from 2024-25

STEP	ВА	BA+24	BA+45	MA BA+60	MA+20 BA+80	MA+40 BA+100
1	\$52,755	\$54,866	\$56,972	\$59,085	\$61,194	\$63,305
2	\$55,393	\$57,504	\$59,615	\$61,724	\$63,832	\$66,375
3	\$58,028	\$60,139	\$62,248	\$64,359	\$66,472	\$69,440
4	\$60,667	\$62,780	\$64,888	\$66,997	\$69,108	\$72,512
5	\$63,307	\$65,413	\$67,525	\$69,633	\$71,743	\$75,578
6	\$65,943	\$68,052	\$70,162	\$72,274	\$74,384	\$78,647
7	\$68,581	\$70,689	\$72,800	\$74,911	\$77,023	\$81,714
8	\$71,219	\$73,327	\$75,438	\$77,547	\$79,657	\$84,783
9	\$73,854	\$75,966	\$78,076	\$80,185	\$82,294	\$87,849
10	\$76,492	\$78,603	\$80,713	\$82,826	\$84,934	\$90,920
11	\$79,133	\$81,240	\$83,351	\$85,462	\$87,573	\$93,986
12	\$81,769	\$83,880	\$85,991	\$88,100	\$90,210	\$97,056
13	\$84,408	\$86,519	\$88,629	\$90,740	\$92,851	\$100,123
14	\$0	\$0	\$91,264	\$93,375	\$95,485	\$103,192
15	\$0	\$0	\$93,904	\$96,012	\$98,122	\$106,259

APPENDIX B: LICENSED SALARY INDEX

Index

RANGE	Α	В	С	D	E	F
STEP	ВА	BA+24	BA+45	MA BA+60	MA+20 BA+80	MA+40 BA+100
1	1.000	1.040	1.080	1.120	1.160	1.200
2	1.050	1.090	1.130	1.170	1.210	1.258
3	1.100	1.140	1.180	1.220	1.260	1.316
4	1.150	1.190	1.230	1.270	1.310	1.375
5	1.200	1.240	1.280	1.320	1.360	1.433
6	1.250	1.290	1.330	1.370	1.410	1.491
7	1.300	1.340	1.380	1.420	1.460	1.549
8	1.350	1.390	1.430	1.470	1.510	1.607
9	1.400	1.440	1.480	1.520	1.560	1.665
10	1.450	1.490	1.530	1.570	1.610	1.723
11	1.500	1.540	1.580	1.620	1.660	1.782
12	1.550	1.590	1.630	1.670	1.710	1.840
13	1.600	1.640	1.680	1.720	1.760	1.898
14			1.730	1.770	1.810	1.956
15			1.780	1.820	1.860	2.014

APPENDIX C: EXTENDED RESPONSIBILITY PLACEMENT SCHEDULE

<u>LEVE</u>	L RANG	GE ACTIVITY	LEVEL F	RANGE	ACTIVITY
HS	М	ADVISOR - CLASS	HS	Α	TRACK
HS	1	ADVISOR - FBLA	HS	С	VOLLEYBALL
HS	M	ADVISOR - GRADUATION	HS	F/H	WATER POLO (1COACH=F, 2=H)
HS	M	ADVISOR - HONOR SOCIETY	HS	Α	WRESTLING
HS	M	ADVISOR - OSSOM	HS	1	YEARBOOK
HS	M	ADVISOR - PACK/LINK	MS	Ν	ADVISOR - CLUB
HS	J	AUDITORIUM MANAGER	MS	Ν	ADVISOR – STUDENT
HS	L	AUXILIARY COACH			ACTIVITIES
HS	В	BASEBALL	MS	Ν	ADVISOR WEB
HS	Α	BASKETBALL	MS	I	CONT AREA LDR A (10+FTE)
HS	E	CHEERLEADER (Fall & Winter)	MS	K	CONT AREA LDR B (6-9.9 FTE)
HS	J	CHILD CARE COORDINATOR	MS	М	CONT AREA LDR C (1-5.9 FTE)
HS	С	CROSS COUNTRY (1 BOY 1	MS	G	COOR. AFTER-SCL ACT
		GIRL HEAD COACH)	MS	J	DRAMA
HS	E	DANCE TEAM (Fall &Winter)			(ASST. 70% OF J)
HS	Н	DIRECTOR OF MUSICAL	MS	I	MUSIC - BAND
		(ASST. 70% OF H)	MS	I	MUSIC - ORCHESTRA
HS	I	CONT AREA LDR A (10+FTE)	MS	I	MUSIC - VOCAL
HS	K	CONT AREA LDR B (6-9.9 FTE)	MS	Н	DIRECTOR OF MUSICAL
HS	M	CONT AREA LDR C (1-5.9 FTE)			(ASST. 70% OF H)
HS	F	E SPORTS	MS	Ν	OUTDOOR SCHOOL
HS	Α	DRAMA	MS	L	PUBLICATIONS
		(ASST. 70% OF A)	MS	L	STUDENT COUNCIL
HS	Α	FOOTBALL	ES	0	ADVISOR - CLUB
HS	Н	GOLF	ES	Р	FIELD DAY
HS	J	HOSA	ES	I	MUSIC
HS	I	JAZZ BAND			(ASST. 70% OF I)
HS	В	MUSIC - BAND			
HS		BAND ASST (IF MARCHING			
		BAND) 70% OF B			
HS	G	MUSIC - GUITAR			
HS	Н	MUSIC - ORCHESTRA			
HS	D	MUSIC VOCAL	<u>Athle</u>	<u>tics Ass</u>	<u>istant Coaches:</u>
HS	Н	NEWSPAPER			
HS	I	RACQUETBALL			oach salary range for that sport as
HS	G	ROBOTICS	lis	sted abov	ve
HS	С	SOCCER			
HS	В	SOFTBALL			
HS	E	SPEECH			
HS	F	STUDENT ACTIVITIES			
HS	F	SWIMMING			
HS	F	TENNIS			

APPENDIX D-1 EXTENDED RESPONSIBILITY SCHEDULES 2024-25

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6
Α	\$7,681	\$8,064	\$8,445	\$8,834	\$9,218	\$9,601
В	\$7,186	\$7,551	\$7,906	\$8,265	\$8,632	\$8,988
С	\$6,690	\$7,024	\$7,362	\$7,696	\$8,031	\$8,358
D	\$6,193	\$6,502	\$6,812	\$7,121	\$7,429	\$7,739
E	\$5,701	\$5,984	\$6,269	\$6,556	\$6,839	\$7,122
F	\$5,206	\$5,462	\$5,726	\$5,986	\$6,245	\$6,506
G	\$4,712	\$4,946	\$5,183	\$5,416	\$5,649	\$5,882
Н	\$4,213	\$4,422	\$4,635	\$4,845	\$5,055	\$5,267
I	\$3,717	\$3,903	\$4,085	\$4,274	\$4,458	\$4,647
J	\$3,225	\$3,382	\$3,543	\$3,708	\$3,866	\$4,026
K	\$2,729	\$2,862	\$2,999	\$3,136	\$3,274	\$3,406
L	\$2,230	\$2,340	\$2,453	\$2,566	\$2,672	\$2,785
М	\$1,736	\$1,823	\$1,910	\$1,997	\$2,082	\$2,166
N	\$1,238	\$1,298	\$1,358	\$1,422	\$1,487	\$1,543
0	\$958	\$1,039	\$1,088	\$1,140	\$1,186	\$1,238
Р	\$746	\$782	\$815	\$858	\$891	\$932
Q	\$499	\$522	\$544	\$569	\$597	\$623

APPENDIX D-2 EXTENDED RESPONSIBILITY SCHEDULES 2025-26

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6
Α	\$7,988	\$8,387	\$8,783	\$9,187	\$9,587	\$9,985
В	\$7,473	\$7,853	\$8,222	\$8,596	\$8,977	\$9,348
С	\$6,958	\$7,305	\$7,656	\$8,004	\$8,352	\$8,692
D	\$6,441	\$6,762	\$7,084	\$7,406	\$7,726	\$8,049
E	\$5,929	\$6,223	\$6,520	\$6,818	\$7,113	\$7,407
F	\$5,414	\$5,680	\$5,955	\$6,225	\$6,495	\$6,766
G	\$4,900	\$5,144	\$5,390	\$5,633	\$5,875	\$6,117
Н	\$4,382	\$4,599	\$4,820	\$5,039	\$5,257	\$5,478
I	\$3,866	\$4,059	\$4,248	\$4,445	\$4,636	\$4,833
J	\$3,354	\$3,517	\$3,685	\$3,856	\$4,021	\$4,187
K	\$2,838	\$2,976	\$3,119	\$3,261	\$3,405	\$3,542
L	\$2,319	\$2,434	\$2,551	\$2,669	\$2,779	\$2,896
М	\$1,805	\$1,896	\$1,986	\$2,077	\$2,165	\$2,253
N	\$1,288	\$1,350	\$1,412	\$1,479	\$1,546	\$1,605
0	\$996	\$1,081	\$1,132	\$1,186	\$1,233	\$1,288
Р	\$776	\$813	\$848	\$892	\$927	\$969
Q	\$519	\$543	\$566	\$592	\$621	\$648

Appendix E: Definitions

1. Per Diem: 1/190 of the contracted salary.

2. Elementary: K-5, unless otherwise noted.

3. Middle: Grades 6-8.

4. High: Grades 9-12.

5. Prep Time: Non-student contact time within the student contact day.

6. Planning Time: Time outside of the student contact time which is used for

instructional planning by the member.

7. Work Day: An eight (8) hour day with maximized time for members to

deal with room preparation, grading, and other activities related to the primary purpose of the work day as set forth in

advance by the administration.

8. Working Day: A contracted day paid at the per diem rate.

9. In-service Day: An eight (8) hour day for which the agenda is established by

the State, District administration, or local school

administrators.

Appendix F: Emergency Procedures for Nursing-Dependent Students

These procedures are meant for rare emergency situations in the event that the nursing-dependent student arrives at school without an agency nurse. They are not meant for ongoing services. Two district nurses shall be identified for each nursing-dependent student to perform the tasks below (one for Nurse A and the other for Nurse B).

A. Back up team – Nurse A and Nurse B

- 1. School front office calls Student Services to alert them that student is at school without an agency nurse.
- 2. School front office calls district nurse A to alert him or her that student is at school without an agency nurse.
 - a. Nurse A heads to school.
 - b. Nurse A contacts his or her other schools and district Nurse B alerts them of situation.
 - c. Student Services contacts agency (CNS) to determine where agency nurse is and if/when a backup nurse will arrive.
 - d. If agency is unable to produce a nurse, Student Services calls private back-up nurse to see if he or she is available.
 - e. Student Services calls Nurse A to let him or her know status of agency nurse and if back-up agency or private nurse is coming and when they can be expected.
 - Nurse B stands ready to cover Nurse A schools in the case of an emergency.
- 3. School front office keeps student in office until Nurse A (or agency nurse) arrives.

Nurse A arrives at school and calls parents to alert them that agency nurse is not at school and of status of nurse services (after Student Services has called with this information).

- 4. Nurse A takes student to class and observes medical condition of student while in class until agency nurse, backup nurse, or parents arrive.
 - a. Nurse is not responsible for bathrooming and instruction of student.

- b. Nurse A may perform the task according to acceptable and prevailing standards of safe nursing care, or despite the completion of training and shadowing in performing skilled nursing tasks needed by a student, Nurse A determines that she/he cannot perform the task within her/his OSBN scope-of Practice at that moment Nurse A will call 911.
- c. Nurse A may also call 911 in the event of medical emergency.

Memorandum of Agreement Between Tigard-Tualatin School District 23J and Tigard-Tualatin Education Association

The Tigard-Tualatin School District 23J (District) and the Tigard-Tualatin Education Association (Association) mutually agree to the following method of administering Article 15.A.3. of the collective bargaining agreement:

Members who opt-out or select a health insurance plan option with premium costs below the District cap as described in Article 15.A.3. shall be paid as follows:

- 1. Members who select an insurance plan option with premium costs below the District monthly cap, receive 50% of the difference between the total premium cost and the District contribution in additional salary (cash).
- 2. The member must decide at the same time as the initial selection of the health insurance plan option or opt-out decision (i.e. no later than September payroll deadline), to take either an allocation to the member's employer-paid Section 129 day care assistance account, employer-paid Section 125 unreimbursed medical expense account or employer-paid Section 125 health savings account (HSA) for High deductible (HDHP), HSA compliant health plan participants, or divide the amount between cash and one or more of the three accounts subject to the restrictions below.
- 3. Since concurrent Section 125 unreimbursed medical expense account and HSA contributions are not allowed, members who select the employer-paid Section 125 unreimbursed medical expense account allocation method cannot also select the employer-paid Section 125 HSA allocation method. Also, for members making employee-paid contributions to a Section 125 unreimbursed medical expense account between January and December, eligible employer contributions to the HSA shall be delayed until January including the contributions for October, November and December, if all of the unreimbursed medical expense account dollars have been expended before January. If the unreimbursed medical expense account dollars have not been expended before January, the HSA contributions will not commence until April.
- 4. Members who select an employer-paid Section 129 day care plan benefit are limited to a maximum of \$5,000 per tax year. Employer contributions to the Section 129 day care assistance account will begin with the September payroll and will be paid over 12 equal installments through June for use through September.
- 5. Members who select an employer-paid Section 125 unreimbursed medical expense plan benefit are limited to a maximum of \$499 per year. The employer-paid amount will be divided among 12 equal installments between the months of Septemberand June for use through the following September.

- 6. Eligible members who select an employer-paid HSA benefit are limited to maximum annual contributions per IRS regulations. The employer-paid amount will be divided among 11 equal installments between October and June. The minimum contribution to an HSA is \$300 per year.
- 7. The balance, if any, of the 50% difference between the total premium cost and the District contribution that is to be paid to members will be spread out equally over 11 equal installments between the months of October and June.
- 8. Any remaining cash, if any, will be paid as salary in October if \$50 or less per insurance plan year. If the remaining additional cash exceeds \$50, the salary will be paid in 11 equal installments between October and June.
- 9. The 50% of the premium cost savings that is not allocated to the employer-paid Section 129 day care plan benefit, the employer-paid Section 125 unreimbursed medical expense plan benefit, the employer-paid Section 125 HSA or paid to the member shall be returned to the District, as well as any unused portion of the member's Section 125 unreimbursed medical expense account or Section 129 dependent day care plan amount.
- 10. Members who opt-out of District-sponsored medical insurance due to coverage through their spouse or domestic partner shall provide proof of such coverage and a signed Opt-Out form.
- 11. This provision becomes null and void if the Association selects tiered plans.
- 12. This revised MOU is effective with the 2022-23 fiscal year.

Collective Bargaining Agreement Between Tigard-Tualatin School District N0. 23J And Tigard-Tualatin Education Association

July 1, 2024 - June 30, 2026

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE PARTIES HAVE EXECUTED THIS AGREEMENT

TIGARD-TUALATIN SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 23J

BY

4	ے DATE <u> 3/10/2</u> 5	A - 1		DATE }/ /15/25
Tristan Irvin, TTSD Board Chair		Iton Udosenata,	TTSD Superinte	ndent
Lenichtka Reed, TTSD HR Directo		£		
TIGARD-TUALATIN EDUCATION	ASSOCIATION			
BY				

Renee Hathorn, TTEA Treasurer

DATE 3/20/25

Jennous Brown, TTEA Vice President

Scott Herron, TTEA President